See discussions, stats, and author profiles for this publication at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/6945481

Müller Cells in the Healthy and Diseased Retina

Article *in* Progress in Retinal and Eye Research · August 2006 DOI: 10.1016/j.preteyeres.2006.05.003 · Source: PubMed

CITATIONS		READS	
1,135		2,935	
8 author	s, including:		
	Thomas Pannicke		Mike Francke
Z	University of Leipzig	1257	University of Leipzig
	172 PUBLICATIONS 7,845 CITATIONS		80 PUBLICATIONS 3,493 CITATIONS
	SEE PROFILE		SEE PROFILE
	Peter Wiedemann	23	Serguei N Skatchkov
	University of Leipzig		Central University of the Caribbean
	592 PUBLICATIONS 15,603 CITATIONS		109 PUBLICATIONS 3,391 CITATIONS
	SEE PROFILE		SEE PROFILE
Some of	the authors of this publication are also working on these related projects:		

Project ion channels in retinal glial cells View project

ATP response of retinal Mueller cells View project



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Progress in Retinal and Eye Research 25 (2006) 397-424

Progress in RETINAL AND EYE RESEARCH

www.elsevier.com/locate/prer

Müller cells in the healthy and diseased retina

Andreas Bringmann^a, Thomas Pannicke^b, Jens Grosche^b, Mike Francke^b, Peter Wiedemann^a, Serguei N. Skatchkov^c, Neville N. Osborne^{d,*}, Andreas Reichenbach^b

^aDepartment of Ophthalmology and Eye Clinic, Medical Faculty of the University of Leipzig, 04103 Leipzig, Germany

^bPaul Flechsig Institute of Brain Research, Medical Faculty of the University of Leipzig, 04109 Leipzig, Germany

^cCenter for Molecular and Behavioral Neurosciences, Universidad Central de Caribe, Bayamon, Puerto Rico 00960-6032, USA

^dNuffield Laboratory of Ophthalmology, University of Oxford, Walton Street, Oxford OX2 6AW, UK

Abstract

Müller glial cells span the entire thickness of the tissue, and ensheath all retinal neurons, in vertebrate retinae of all species. This morphological relationship is reflected by a multitude of functional interactions between neurons and Müller cells, including a 'metabolic symbiosis' and the processing of visual information. Müller cells are also responsible for the maintenance of the homeostasis of the retinal extracellular milieu (ions, water, neurotransmitter molecules, and pH). In vascularized retinae, Müller cells may also be involved in the control of angiogenesis, and the regulation of retinal blood flow. Virtually every disease of the retina is associated with a reactive Müller cell gliosis which, on the one hand, supports the survival of retinal neurons but, on the other hand, may accelerate the progress of neuronal degeneration: Müller cells protect neurons via a release of neurotrophic factors, the uptake and degradation of the excitotoxin, glutamate, and the secretion of the antioxidant, glutathione. However, gliotic Müller cells display a dysregulation of various neuronsupportive functions. This contributes to a disturbance of retinal glutamate metabolism and ion homeostasis, and causes the development of retinal edema and neuronal cell death. Moreover, there are diseases evoking a primary Müller cell insufficiency, such as hepatic retinopathy and certain forms of glaucoma. Any impairment of supportive functions of Müller cells, primary or secondary, must cause and/or aggravate a dysfunction and loss of neurons, by increasing the susceptibility of neurons to stressful stimuli in the diseased retina. On the contrary, Müller cells may be used in the future for novel therapeutic strategies to protect neurons against apoptosis (somatic gene therapy), or to differentiate retinal neurons from Müller/stem cells. Meanwhile, a proper understanding of the gliotic responses of Müller cells in the diseased retina, and of their protective vs. detrimental effects, is essential for the development of efficient therapeutic strategies that use and stimulate the neuron-supportive/protective—and prevent the destructive—mechanisms of gliosis. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	398
	1.1. Basic properties of Müller cells	398
	1.2. Müller cell gliosis	401
2.	Müller cells in the healthy retina	403
	2.1. Retinal development	403
	2.2. 'Metabolic symbiosis'	404
	2.3. Neurotransmitter recycling.	405
	2.4. Retinal K ⁺ homeostasis	406
	2.5. Retinal water homeostasis	407
	2.6. Other interactions	408
3.	Müller cells in the diseased retina	408
	3.1. Retinal detachment	408

*Corresponding author. Tel.: +441865248996; fax: +441865794508. *E-mail address:* neville.osborne@eye.ox.ac.uk (N.N. Osborne).

^{1350-9462/} $\$ - see front matter $\$ 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.preteyeres.2006.05.003

	3.2.	Diabetic retinopathy	410
	3.3.	Macular edema.	412
	3.4.	Proliferative retinopathies	413
	3.5.	Ischemia-reperfusion	414
	3.6.	Hepatic retinopathy	415
	3.7.	Retinoschisis.	415
	3.8.	Retinitis pigmentosa and support of neuronal survival	415
4.	Futur	re directions	416
	Ackn	owledgements	417
	Refer	ences	417

1. Introduction

Generally, the mammalian retina contains three types of glial cells. In addition to microglial cells, there are two forms of neuron-supporting macroglial cells, astrocytes and Müller (radial glial) cells. As an exception, oligodendrocytes can be found in the myelinated nerve fiber bundles ('medullary rays') of rabbits and hares, as a fourth type of glia. Microglial cells are the blood-derived resident immune cells within the retina that have an important role in host defense against invading microorganisms, initiation of inflammatory processes, and tissue repair. They are normally located in the innermost retinal layers (nerve fiber, ganglion cell, and inner plexiform layers). In species with completely or locally vascularized retinae, astrocytes are also located in these innermost retinal layers (in avascular retinae/retinal areas, they are absent). Retinal astrocytes are in contact with the superficial vascular plexus via processes which wrap around the vessels, and

with the vitreo-retinal border (inner limiting membrane = ILM) to which they also extend processes. These latter processes form endfeet at the ILM, intermingled with the many endfeet of the Müller cells.

1.1. Basic properties of Müller cells

The Müller cell is the principal glial cell of the vetebrate retina; in the avascular retinae of many vertebrates (including mammals) it constitutes the only type of macroglial cells. Müller cells are specialized radial glial cells which span the entire thickness of the retina (Fig. 1A, B) and contact/ensheath all retinal neuronal somata and processes (Fig. 1D). The Müller cell population forms a dense, regular pattern (Fig. 1C, bottom); each of these cells can be considered as the core of a columnar 'micro-unit' of retinal neurons (Fig. 1D; Reichenbach and Robinson, 1995a, b). Thus, Müller cells constitute an anatomical link between the retinal neurons and the compartments with



Fig. 1. Morphology of Müller glial cells. (A) Drawing of a Golgi-labeled rabbit Müller cell. (B, C) Living Müller cells in a slice (B) and flat-mount (C), respectively, of a guinea-pig retina selectively stained with Mitotracker Orange (green). (A, B) Müller cells pass through the entire retinal tissue, with somata in the INL from which two main trunks pass toward both surfaces of the retina. In the NFL/GCL, the trunks are enlarged to endfeet that abut the vitreous body. The trunks in the ONL show honeycomb-like shapes that ensheath photoreceptor cell bodies. In both plexiform layers, many side processes cover the synapses. (C) The view onto the flat-mount with the focal plane at the GCL displays neuronal cell bodies that reflect red light (circle), green-stained sections through Müller cell endfeet, and yellow-appearing nerve fiber bundles (top); the view onto the IPL shows green-stained Müller cell profiles and synaptic structures that reflect red light (bottom). (D) Artist's view of a human Müller cell (blue), enveloping various types of retinal neurons (green) and establishing contacts to retinal blood vessels (red). Scale bars, 20 µm. Cap, capillaries; GCL, ganglion cell layer; INL, inner nuclear layer; IPL, inner plexiform layer; NFL, nerve fiber layer; ONL, outer nuclear layer; OPL, outer plexiform layer. Modified after Uckermann et al., 2004 (B, C) and Reichenbach et al., 1993 (D).



Fig. 2. Müller cells of the rat retina express different subtypes of inwardly rectifying K⁺ (Kir) channels in different membrane domains. (A) Current–voltage (I–V) curves of three different K⁺ channels. The weakly rectifying Kir4.1 channel mediates outward (upwardly) and inward currents (downwardly) of similar amplitudes. The strongly rectifying Kir2.1 channels mediates inward currents but almost no outward currents. The tandem-pore channel TASK3 mediates rather weak inward currents but large outward currents at membrane potentials close to the resting conditions. (B) The Kir4.1 channel is expressed in membranes that have contact to the vitreous body, to the vessels, and the subretinal space. This channel mediates bidirectional K⁺ currents between Müller cells and extraretinal fluid-filled spaces. The Kir2.1 channel is expressed in membranes that have contact to neurons and synapses (with exception of the photoreceptor cell bodies). Thus, the transglial K^+ currents are directed from the neuropil through the cells, and into the extraretinal spaces. The TASK channel is expressed along most of the Müller cell membrane; it may contribute to the maintenance of an 'auxiliary' resting membrane potential, and may even play a minor role in K⁺ buffering. (C) Immunoreactivities for Kir4.1 (top), Kir2.1 (middle), and TASK3 (bottom) in slices of the rat retina. In control tissues, the Kir4.1 is predominantly expressed at both limiting membranes (arrowheads) and around the vessels (arrows), while the Kir2.1 protein is expressed by Müller cell membranes from the outer plexiform layer up to the ganglion cell layer (the arrowhead marks a Müller cell fiber passing through the IPL). At seven days of reperfusion after transient pressure-induced retinal ischemia for 60 minutes, the expression of the Kir4.1 protein is strongly downregulated, while the expression pattern of Kir2.1 protein is unchanged (and the expression of TASK channels may even be upregulated, arrowhead). This altered K⁺ channel expression may cause an accumulation of K⁺ ions within the Müller cells that results in an increased osmotic pressure of the cell interior (Pannicke et al., 2004). Note the decreased thickness of the inner ischemic retina compared to the control retina. Scale bar, 20 µm. GCL, ganglion cell layer; INL, inner nuclear layer; IPL, inner plexiform layer; ONL, outer nuclear layer. Modified after Kofuji et al. (2002), Skatchkov et al. (2006), and Iandiev et al. (2006b).

which these need to exchange molecules, i. e., the retinal blood vessels, the vitreous body, and the subretinal space (which, together with the retinal pigment epithelium = RPE, constitutes the pathway to the choroidal blood vessels).

This link is not merely anatomical but also functional. For this purpose, Müller cells are endowed with a wealth of different ion channels, ligand receptors, transmembraneous transporter molecules, and enzymes (Newman and Reichenbach, 1996; Sarthy and Ripps, 2001). Many of these molecules are specifically expressed by Müller cells (i.e., they are not found in retinal neurons or other retinal cell types) or, at least, are most abundant in Müller cells ($\rightarrow 2.2.-2.6$.). A key feature of normal mature Müller cells is the high K⁺ conductance of their plasma membrane. It is provided by a high density of specialized K⁺ channels

(Fig. 2); several types of these channels have been characterized in mammalian Müller cells. They comprise

- inwardly rectifying channels of the Kir family, mainly Kir4.1 (weakly rectifying at resting membrane potential; mainly located at the vitread endfoot and perivascular membrane areas, and in the microvilli) and Kir2.1 (strongly rectifying, rather evenly distributed in the membrane between endfoot and soma) (Kofuji et al., 2002);
- tandem-pore (TASK) channels which allow for outward currents at depolarized membrane potentials and show a subcellular distribution similar to that of the Kir2.1 channels, plus a prominent expression in the microvilli (Skatchkov et al., 2006), and
- Ca²⁺-dependent K⁺ channels of big conductance (BK channels), requiring intracellular Ca²⁺ rises and/or



Fig. 3. The expression levels of K^+ inward currents and ATP responsiveness of Müller cells are inversely correlated during development and retinal disease. (A) Above: the amplitude of the inward K^+ currents in Müller cells of the rabbit is dependent on the differentiation degree of rabbit Müller cells. The amplitude increases during the postnatal development, indicating that the K^+ channel expression is one marker for the differentiation degree of Müller cells. After experimental retinal detachment or during moderate and massive proliferative vitreoretinopathy (PVR), the amplitude of the inward K^+ currents is significantly reduced. Below: the percentage of Müller cells that show Ca^{2+} responses upon application of ATP decreases during the postnatal development, and increases after retinal detachment and during PVR. (B) Representative traces of the K^+ currents of rat Müller cells. The cells were derived from control retinas (left) and from retinas at three days of reperfusion after transient pressure-induced retinal ischemia for 60 minutes (right above), and of a retina derived from a diabetic animal at four months after intravenous injection of streptozotocin (right below), respectively. After ischemia and during diabetes, Müller cells downregulate the expression of K^+ channels. The K^+ currents were evoked by depolarizing (upwardly) and hyperpolarizing voltage steps (downwardly) from a holding potential of $-80 \, \text{mV}$.

membrane depolarizations to enter the open state (Bringmann et al., 1997).

A block or down-regulation of the K⁺ channels depolarizes the cell membrane (Newman, 1989; Pannicke et al., 2000b). The high K⁺ conductance of the Müller cell membrane, accompanied by a very negative resting membrane potential of about -80 mV, is characteristic for normal mature Müller cells (Fig. 3; \rightarrow 2.1.), and is the essential precondition for virtually all neuron-supportive functions of the cells (\rightarrow 2.3.–2.6.).

As the Müller cells are the dominant (or even the only) type of macroglial cells in the retina, they play a wealth of crucial roles in supporting the neurons and their functions that are carried out by the concerted action of astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and ependymal cells in other regions of the central nervous system (Fig. 5, Table 1). From early stages of retinal development, they are essential in creating and maintaining the neuroretinal architecture (Willbold et al., 1997), and support neuronal survival and regular information processing (Reichenbach et al., 1993; Newman and Reichenbach, 1996). The importance of Müller cells for the maintenance of retinal structure and function is elucidated by the observation that selective Müller cell destruction causes retinal dysplasia, photoreceptor apoptosis and, at a final state, retinal degeneration and proliferation of the RPE (Dubois-Dauphin et al., 2000). Specifically, in the healthy retina Müller cells

• are involved in retinal glucose metabolism, providing retinal neurons with nutrients such as lactate/pyruvate for their oxidative metabolism (Poitry-Yamate et al., 1995; Tsacopoulos and Magistretti, 1996) and removing metabolic waste products;

- regulate the retinal blood flow (Paulson and Newman, 1987) and contribute to the formation and maintenance of the blood-retinal barrier (Tout et al., 1993) (\rightarrow 2.2.);
- contribute to the neuronal signaling processes, particularly by rapid uptake and recycling of neurotransmitters (Matsui et al., 1999) and by providing precursors of neurotransmitters to neurons (→2.3.);
- maintain the ion and water homeostasis of the retinal tissue including the pH (Newman, 1996; Newman and Reichenbach, 1996; Bringmann et al., 2004) (\rightarrow 2.4., 2.5.); and
- release factors (e.g., D-serine and glutamate) which control the excitability of neurons (Newman and Zahs, 1998; Stevens et al., 2003), and are likely to be involved in the recycling of photopigments, as they express cellular retinaldehyde-binding protein (CRALBP) (Bunt-Milam and Saari, 1983), bind all-*trans*-retinal, convert it into 11-*cis*-retinol, and release it into the extracellular space for uptake by cone photoreceptors (Das et al., 1992) (\rightarrow 2.6.).

It has been known for many years that retinal neurons (particularly, photoreceptor cells) are highly susceptible to various forms of injury including insufficient blood supply. By contrast, Müller glial cells are strikingly resistant to ischemia, anoxia, or hypoglycemia (Silver et al., 1997; Stone et al., 1999); this can be attributed to their peculiar energy metabolism (\rightarrow 2.2.). Thus, Müller cells survive most retinal injuries, and remain available as players in the pathogenic events.

For instance, under pathological conditions Müller cells may act as modulators of immune and inflammatory responses, by producing proinflammatory cytokines in response to infection, for example (Caspi and Roberge, 1989; Roberge et al., 1991; Drescher and Whittum-Hudson, 1996). Furthermore, Müller cells are capable of phagocytosing fragments of retinal cells and foreign substances (Mano and Puro, 1990; Stolzenburg et al., 1992; Francke et al., 2001a) (Fig. 7D-F). Most noteworthy, Müller cells become 'activated' or 'reactive' in response to virtually every pathological alteration of the retina. This reaction is called Müller cell gliosis: it is one component of a complex retinal response to pathogenic stimuli which also includes microglial activation, alterations of the vasculature, and immigration of blood-derived leukocytes into the retinal tissue. Very probably, the initiation of (at least, certain steps or forms of) Müller cell gliosis requires an interaction between microglia and Müller cells, such as shown in the case of retinal light damage (Harada et al., 2002). In particular, micoglial cells modulate the production of a variety of trophic factors by Müller cells, including some that promote survival and some that promote death of photoreceptor cells (Harada et al., 2002).

1.2. Müller cell gliosis

Müller cell gliosis is characterized by both non-specific responses, i. e., stereotypic alterations independent of the causal stimulus, and specific responses which depend on the given pathogenic factor or mechanism. The most sensitive non-specific response to retinal diseases and injuries, which can be used as a universal early cellular marker for retinal injury, is the upregulation of the intermediate filament protein, glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) (Bignami and Dahl, 1979; Eisenfeld et al., 1984; Bringmann and Reichenbach, 2001). Another non-specific Müller cell response is an activation of the extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERKs) which was observed early during experimental retinal detachment, retinal ischemia-reperfusion, and endotoxin-induced uveitis, respectively (Geller et al., 2001; Akiyama et al., 2002; Takeda et al., 2002), as well as in the glaucomatous eye (Tezel et al., 2003) (Table 2).

A prominent example of the specific gliotic responses of Müller cells is an altered expression of glutamine synthetase (GS), a Müller cell-specific enzyme normally involved in neurotransmitter recycling ($\rightarrow 2.3$.) and ammonia detoxification ($\rightarrow 2.2$.). After a loss of major

Table 1

Selective functions of Müller cells

Physiological process	Müller cell function	Glia-specific protein/ peptide	Reference		
Metabolic support and nutrition of neurons	 Delivery of lactate/pyruvate Storing of glycogen and glycogenolysis 	(Lactate dehydrogenase) Glycogen phosphorylase	Poitry-Yamate et al. (1995) Kuwabara and Cogan (1961) Pfeiffer-Guglielmi et al. (2005)		
\boldsymbol{K}^+ and water homeostasis	 CO₂-buffering Removal of external K⁺ ions (spatial buffering) 	Carboanhydrase Kir4.1 channel	Newman (1994) Newman et al. (1984), Kofuji et al. (2002)		
	• Dehydration of inner retina	AQP4 water channel	Nagelhus et al. (1998)		
Protection against oxidative stress	• Scavenging free radicals	Glutathion	Schütte and Werner (1998), Pow and Crook (1995), Reichelt et al. (1997b)		
Contribution to neuronal signalling	Transmitter uptakeTransmitter recycling	Glutamate transporter GABA transporter Glutamine synthetase	Brew and Attwell (1987), Rauen et al. (1998) Qian et al. (1993), Biedermann et al. (2002) Linser and Moscona (1979), Pow and Robinson (1994)		
Recycling of photopigments	• Transport and conversion of bleached photopigments	CRALBP	Das et al. (1992)		
Release of neuroactive substances	Storage and release ofD-serineGlutamateATP		Stevens et al. (2003) Newman and Zahs (1998) Newman (2003)		
Release of vasoactive substances	Synthesis and release of • VEGF • PEDF • TGF-β		Eichler et al. (2000) Eichler et al. (2004a) Ikeda et al. (1998)		
Retinal development	• Scaffold for orientation (immature radial glia cells)		Willbold et al. (1997)		

Table 2	
Characteristics of reactive Müller cells in various diseases	

	Retinal detachment	Proliferative retinopathies	Diabetic retinopathy	Ischemia- reperfusion	Inflammation	Glaucoma
 Expression of: GFAP Glutamine synthetase Transcription factors 	↑ ↓	ţ	ţ	Î	Î	Î
• ERK phosphorylation	х			Х	Х	Х
K ⁺ conductance Membrane potential P2Y-mediated Ca ²⁺ responses	↓ ↓ ↑	↓ ↓ ↑	↓ 	↓ ↓	↓ ↓	\downarrow
Mislocation of Kir4.1 channels			Х	Х	Х	
Release of angiogenic factors Apoptosis			X X	Х		
References	Erickson et al. (1987), Francke et al. (2001b), Geller et al. (2001), Lewis et al. (1999), Uhlmann et al. (2003)	Francke et al. (1997), Francke et al. (2002)	Amin et al. (1997), Hammes et al. (1995), Hirata et al. (1997), Pannicke et al. (2006), Rungger-Brändle et al. (2000)	Akiyama et al. (2002), Eichler et al. (2004b), Pannicke et al. (2004)	Pannicke et al. (2005)	Francke et al. (1997), Tezel et al. (2003)

glutamate-releasing neurons such as occurs after photoreceptor degeneration evoked by light or retinal detachment (Grosche et al., 1995; Lewis et al., 1989), the expression of GS in Müller cells is reduced whereas an enhanced expression is observed during hepatic retinopathy when GS activity is necessary to detoxify the tissue from elevated levels of ammonia (Reichenbach et al., 1995b). On the other hand, no alteration of the GS expression by Müller cells is observed in diabetic retinopathy and after optic nerve crush (Mizutani et al., 1998; Chen and Weber, 2002). However, after optic nerve crush a translocation of the GS protein within the Müller cells is observed towards their endfeet in the ganglion cell layer, where injury of ganglion cells might result in the release of excess glutamate (Chen and Weber, 2002).

To understand the clinical consequences of Müller cell gliosis it is essential to note that it may include a dedifferentiation of the cells. As a most important step of this de-differentiation, the cells reduce the K^+ -conductance of their membrane (particularly, the Kir4.1-mediated currents; this is generally associated with a mislocation of the Kir4.1 channels in the Müller cell membrane) (Figs. 2C, 3; Bringmann et al., 2000). This will cause a severe loss of the functions involved in normal neuron-glia interaction, most of which require a hyperpolarized membrane potential. A similar mislocation of the Kir4.1 protein has been described in retinas of mice carrying a genetic inactivation of the dystrophin gene product, Dp71, which is proposed to be involved in the clustering of Kir4.1 channels in the plasma membrane (Connors and Kofuji, 2002). This mislocation of Kir4.1 protein was associated with an enhanced vulnerability of retinal ganglion cells to ischemic stress (Dalloz et al., 2003). Thus, as in the brain, gliosis in the retina is Janus-faced, contributing to both damage and protection of neurons (Bringmann and Reichenbach, 2001).

Early after injury, gliosis is neuroprotective, and is thought to represent a cellular attempt to protect the tissue from further damage, e.g., by release of neurotrophic factors and antioxidants (Schütte and Werner, 1998; Frasson et al., 1999; Honjo et al., 2000; Oku et al., 2002). Some of the factors released by activated Müller cells such as the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), however, may have both neuroprotective (Yasuhara et al., 2004) and detrimental effects, as VEGF may exacerbate disease progression by inducing vascular leakage and neovascularization (\rightarrow 3.2., 3.4., 3.5.). Likewise, in response to ischemia and early in diabetic retinopathy Müller cells increase the expression of the inducible form of nitric oxide synthase (Goureau et al., 1994; Abu-El-Asrar et al., 2001). Enzymatically formed nitric oxide exerts beneficial effects by counteracting ischemia through dilating retinal vessels, and low nitric oxide protects neurons from glutamate toxicity via closing of *N*-methyl-*D*-aspartate (NMDA) receptor channels (Kashii et al., 1996). However, higher concentrations of nitric oxide and subsequent formation of free nitrogen radicals are cytotoxic for neurons, and are involved in the development of diabetic retinopathy, for example (Roth, 1997; Goureau et al., 1999; Koeberle and Ball, 1999) (\rightarrow 3.2.).

At later stages and/or in more severe cases of gliosis the de-differentiation of the cells contributes to neuronal cell death, e.g., via impairment of neurotransmitter removal (i.e., excitotoxicity) and dysregulation of the ion and water homeostasis after down-regulation of K⁺ channels (e.g., formation of edema) (\rightarrow 3.1., 3.5.). Generally, an impairment of supportive functions of Müller cells may have an additive effect on dysfunction and loss of neurons, by increasing the susceptibility of neurons to stressful stimuli in the diseased retina.

Finally, Müller cells may re-enter the proliferation cycle $(\rightarrow 3.4., 3.5.)$ to establish a glial scar (Burke and Smith, 1981). Glial scars are one reason for the failure of the central nervous system to regenerate. During retinal detachment, for example, Müller cell processes grow through the outer limiting membrane and fill the spaces left by dying photoreceptors (Lewis and Fisher, 2000). Within the subretinal space, the Müller cell processes then form a fibrotic layer that completely inhibits the regeneration of outer photoreceptor segments (Anderson et al., 1986). Glial scars involve the expression of inhibitory molecules on the surface of reactive glial cells which additionally inhibit regular tissue repair and neuroregeneration (Fawcett and Asher, 1999).

In summary, a proper understanding of the gliotic responses of Müller cells in the diseased retina, and of their protective and detrimental effects, is essential for the development of efficient therapeutic strategies that increase the supportive/protective and/or decrease the destructive roles of gliosis. Therefore, this article summarizes the present knowledge about some of the key functions of Müller cells in the healthy retina, and of the involvement of Müller cells in various retinopathies.

2. Müller cells in the healthy retina

2.1. Retinal development

From early embryonic stages, the immature Müller cells are important for the histotypic organization of the developing retina, and for the proper wiring of its neuronal circuits. They provide an orientation scaffold and migration substrate for postmitotic young neurons (Willbold et al., 1997) as well as for their growing neurites (Stier and Schlosshauer, 1998). It is noteworthy that after dedifferentiation, reactive Müller cells appear to recover this capability; in degenerated retinas of aged rats, or in retinas from human subjects with age-dependent macular degeneration, retinal neurons migrate out of the retina into the choroid along remodeled processes of Müller cells that extend through gaps in Bruch's membrane (Sullivan et al., 2003).

Another property of (immature) Müller cells might become important in future clinical applications. In some (sub-)mammalian vertebrates, the transition from the radially aligned, bipolar-shaped late progenitor cells to the radial glial (Müller) cells is not abrupt, and partially reversible. Thus, under certain conditions young Müller cells may re-enter the mitotic cycle, and generate new neurons and Müller cells (Fischer and Reh. 2001). Generally in the vertebrate retina, there are no glia- or neuron-specific progenitor cells: even the final division of a late progenitor cell typically generates one rod photoreceptor or bipolar cell and one Müller cell (Turner and Cepko, 1987; for review see Reichenbach and Robinson, 1995b). Before this last division, each of the late progenitor cells undergoes a species-specific varying number of cell divisions, eventually generating a columnar aligned group of neurons together with one Müller cell in its core (Reichenbach and Robinson, 1995b). Thus, most of the cells in a given columnar 'micro-unit' (Fig. 1D) are clonally as well as functionally related.

To take on the multitude of supportive functions for its 'small neuronal siblings' (Reichenbach et al., 1993), the young Müller cell must undergo a radical differentiation. In laboratory rodents, this differentiation occurs during the first 2–3 postnatal weeks. This period includes the cessation of cell proliferation (during the first days) and the establishment of the mature synaptic wiring of retinal neurons (end of first week) as well as the full development of photoreceptor outer segments (second week). Accordingly, the retinal glia differentiates from a progenitor-like state, via a stage of immature radial glia, to mature Müller cells. This differentiation involves morphological, biochemical, and (electro-) physiological changes; the cells extend side branches between the neuronal somata and synaptic processes (Reichenbach and Reichelt, 1986), accumulate glia-specific enzymes such as GS (Germer et al., 1997), and dramatically change the expression pattern of membrane proteins (Bringmann et al., 1999b; Felmy et al., 2001; Pannicke et al., 2002). As these latter changes are very important for many Müller cell functions (\rightarrow 1.1.) and are largely reversible in cases of gliotic de-differentiation $(\rightarrow 1.2.;$ Fig. 3) they will be considered in more detail.

During the first postnatal days, the immature radial glial cells display a characteristic pattern of membrane-physiological features, suitable to support a mitotic activity of the cells (Bringmann et al., 2000): there are virtually no inward currents (Fig. 3A); the resting membrane potential is very 'low', i.e., depolarized (about -20 mV: Bringmann et al., 1999b; Felmy et al., 2001; Pannicke et al., 2002); the open probability of BK channels is very high, at least in some species (Bringmann et al., 1999b), and virtually all cells respond to stimulation of purinergic receptors by elevating intracellular free Ca²⁺ (Fig. 3A). This ATP-evoked Ca²⁺ responsiveness decreases rapidly during Müller cell differentiation (Fig. 3A), as well as the open probability of BK

channels (Bringmann et al., 1999b). By contrast, in the differentiating Müller cells there occurs a dramatic increase of the inward K⁺ current density (Fig. 3A), accompanied by a hyperpolarization of the membrane potential towards the adult levels of about -80 mV (Bringmann et al., 1999b; Felmy et al., 2001; Pannicke et al., 2002). This is apparently due to the insertion of Kir4.1-type K⁺ channels into the Müller cell membrane during the second week of life (Kofuji et al., 2002) and provides the essential precondition for most of the neuron-supportive functions of mature Müller cells (\rightarrow 1.1., 2.3.–2.6.) as well as for the cessation of proliferative activity (Bringmann et al., 2000).

Taken together, several features of the Müller cells mature in concert to fit the requirements of the maturing neuronal network. For example, in neurotransmitter recycling (\rightarrow 2.3.), after neural synapses are established at the early second week of life, the Müller cells then (i) send side branches towards the synapses, and ensheath them, (ii) express glutamate uptake transporter molecules in the membrane of these perisynaptic sheaths, (iii) hyperpolarize their resting membrane potential to provide the necessary driving force for the transporters, and (iv) express the enzyme, GS, to convert the internalized glutamate molecules into glutamine. In parallel, the young Müller cells are involved in the control of retinal vascularization (Wolburg et al., 1999) including the induction of the blood–retina barrier (Tout et al., 1993).

2.2. 'Metabolic symbiosis'

It has already been mentioned that Müller cells, in contrast to retinal neurons, are strikingly resistant to a wide variety of pathogenic factors, including ischemia, hypoxia, and hypoglycemia. One reason for this relative insusceptibility to injury is their specialized energy metabolism. As in many types of glial cells, it relies mainly upon anaerobic glycolysis, even in the presence of sufficient oxygen supply. Therefore, Müller cells display a low rate of oxygen consumption and may withstand even long-lasting anoxia (Poitry-Yamate et al., 1995; Winkler et al., 2000). As long as oxygen is available, Müller cells are also resistant to the absence of glucose since other substrates such as lactate, pyruvate, glutamate, or glutamine can be metabolized to generate energy substrates by the Krebs cycle, a pathway that is normally non-dominant (Tsacopoulos et al., 1998; Winkler et al., 2000). Short periods of glucose deficiency and even ischemia may be compensated by the glycogen deposits in Müller cells (Kuwabara and Cogan, 1961; Reichenbach et al., 1999; Gohdo et al., 2001). Müller cells are abundantly endowed with the brainspecific glycogenolytic isoenzyme, BB glycogen phosphorylase (Pfeiffer-Guglielmi et al., 2005). Elevation of the extracellular K⁺ concentration causes rapid glycogenolysis in cultured Müller cells (Reichenbach et al., 1993), indicating that the amount of glycogenolysis depends on the momentary neuronal activity in the retina (and may be increased under pathological conditions, as well).

As a *caveat* to this scenery of Müller cells as 'oxygenindependent survivors', it must be said that most of the above-mentioned data were obtained on Müller cells from the rabbit and guinea-pig retina which both are avascular and display extremely low oxygen partial pressures proximal to the outer limiting membrane (Yu and Cringle, 2001). Such Müller cells contain only a few mitochondria at their distal-most end, directed towards the choroid as the only oxygen source (Germer et al., 1998a, b). Indeed, the mitochondrial energy production of these cells may be blocked over hours without measurable effects on energyconsuming functions such as the maintenance of the hyperpolarized resting membrane potential (whereas it rapidly depolarizes in the presence of iodoacetate, a blocker of anaerobic glycolysis) (Reichenbach et al., 1999). However, Müller cells from vascularized retinae contain many mitochondria, distributed along the entire length of the cells (Germer et al., 1998a) probably due to a sufficient oxygen availability throughout the tissue (Germer et al., 1998b). When the mitochondrial energy production of such Müller cells (from rat retina) is blocked, their membrane potential slowly depolarizes suggesting that these cells cannot be completely resistant to anoxia (AR and coworkers, unpublished results). The membrane potential of these cells also depolarize more rapidly in the presence of iodoacetate, which inhibits a predominant anaerobic component of their energy metabolism.

What does this mean for the interaction between Müller cells and retinal neurons? The glycolytic metabolism of glial cells results in the generation of lactate, which is converted into pyruvate by the glial enzymes, lactate dehydrogenase and pyruvate kinase (Tsacopoulos et al., 1998). Pyruvate is then released from the cells likely via their monocarboxylate transporter, MCT2 (Lin et al., 1998), and taken up by the neurons which then use it as a substrate for their own Krebs cycle (Poitry-Yamate et al., 1995) (Fig. 5C). This interaction has beneficial consequences for both neurons (which are being 'fed' by the substrate of their metabolism, without the necessity of an own unefficient but 'costly' glycolytic pathway) and glial cells (which are getting rid of the 'unwarranted' acidic end product of their metabolism). A 'mirror image' of this mutual benefit arises at the end of the aerobic pathway when CO_2 and water are generated by the neurons. By means of the glia-specific enzyme, carbonic anhydrase (Sarthy and Lam, 1978; Deitmer, 2002), the glial cells transfer CO_2 to HCO_3^- , which is either transported via a H^+/HCO_3^- -exchanger into the vitreous body (Newman, 1996) or into the blood vessels, or used to synthesize lipids (Cammer, 1991) (Fig. 5C). Thus, one type of retinal cell (Müller cells) is responsible for inactivating a potentially dangerous end product (neurons are unable to inactivate CO₂ on their own) and the other type of cells receive a substrate for their metabolism (the glial cells, which do not generate enough CO_2 in their own gycolytic metabolism). This type of interaction can be called a 'metabolic symbiosis' between retinal neurons and glial cells.

2.3. Neurotransmitter recycling

Müller cells play a major part in the recycling of neurotransmitters in glio-neuronal interaction. For the fast clearance of transmitters in synaptic spaces, Müller cell membranes express uptake systems for amino acid transmitters (Ehinger, 1977) such as glutamate (Brew and Attwell, 1987; Derouiche and Rauen, 1995; Sarthy et al., 2005), y-aminobutyric acid (GABA) (Sarthy, 1982; Qian et al., 1993: Biedermann et al., 2002), and glycine (Gadea et al., 2002). The clearance of synaptic glutamate by Müller cells is required for the normal functioning of excitatory synapses and for the prevention of neurotoxicity (Barnett and Pow, 2000). Müller cells express the glutamate/ aspartate transporter, GLAST (Otori et al., 1994; Derouiche and Rauen, 1995), which is the predominant transporter for the removal of glutamate within the retina (Fig. 4; Harada et al., 1998; Rauen et al., 1998); it mediates the rapid termination of the postsynaptic action of glutamate (Matsui et al., 1999). The Na⁺-dependent glutamate uptake of Müller cells is electrogenic (Brew and Attwell, 1987) and, therefore, energy-dependent; a very negative membrane potential is necessary for efficient uptake. Cell depolarization, e.g., by activation of glial ionotropic receptors (Pannicke et al., 2000a) or by elevated extracellular K^+ , decreases the uptake rate substantially. Malfunction of the glutamate transport into Müller cells results in an increased extracellular level of glutamate



Fig. 4. Schematic diagram of neurotransmitter recycling in the retina. A GABAergic (neuron 1) and a glutamatergic neuron (neuron 2) are drawn together for simplicity. They release the neuroactive (underlined) substances, GABA and glutamate, respectively, into the extracellular space (ECS) from where they rapidly are taken up by the Müller glial cell. For this purpose, the Müller cell is endowed with high-affine uptake transporters for GABA (dominantly, GAT-3; Johnson et al., 1996) and glutamate (as the most important, GLAST). Once GABA has entered the cytoplasm, it is converted into glutamate by means of the GABA transaminase (GABA-T). Then, glutamate (either converted from GABA or directly taken up) is transformed into the non-neuroactive substance, glutamine. This transformation requires the glia-specific enzyme, glutamine synthetase (GS), and energy (in the form of ATP). The GS reaction is the only pathway of ammonia detoxification in the retina. Glutamine is then exported by the glutamine transporters, SN 1 and SN 2 (Umapathy et al., 2005), into the ECS from where the neurons may take it up, and use it for the re-synthesis of glutamate and GABA.

which may contribute to neuronal dysfunction and apoptosis in the diseased retina (Barnett and Pow, 2000). After experimental inhibition of glutamate uptake by Müller cells, even low concentrations of extracellular glutamate become neurotoxic, via activation of ionotropic glutamate receptors on neurons (Kashii et al., 1996; Izumi et al., 1999).

After being taken up by Müller cells, glutamate is intracellularly converted into glutamine by the enzyme, GS which is only expressed in Müller cells (Linser and Moscona, 1979) and which operates in concert with GLAST (Derouiche and Rauen, 1995) (Fig. 4). Likewise, after the uptake of GABA into Müller cells, it is converted to glutamate (Biedermann et al., 2002) which then is fed into the GS pathway. Glutamine is transported back to neurons as precursor for their synthesis of glutamate and GABA (glutamate-glutamine cycle of the retina) (Pow and Crook, 1996) (Figs. 4, 5B). Due to the efficiency of the GS, demonstrable levels of glutamate are only present in Müller cells when the GS is experimentally inhibited (Pow and Robinson, 1994) or down-regulated under pathological conditions (Erickson et al., 1987). When the GS is experimentally blocked in Müller cells, retinal neurons lose their glutamate content, and the animals become rapidly (within 2 min) functionally blind (Pow and Robinson, 1994; Barnett et al., 2000).

The expression and activity of GLAST in Müller cells is regulated by the availability of the substrate, mediated by intracellular signaling pathways. Glutamate receptor activation in Müller cells results in an increase in the intracellular free calcium and in activation of protein kinase C (Lopez-Colome et al., 1993). Activation of protein kinase C increases the glutamate uptake by phosphorylation and increased expression of transporter protein (González et al., 1999), suggesting that the enhanced expression of GLAST by activated Müller cells observed under certain pathological conditions (Otori et al., 1994; Reichelt et al., 1997a) may be caused by this mechanism. In a similar manner, the expression level of GS appears to be regulated by the availability of its two substrates, glutamate and ammonia. Young Müller cells express the enzyme shortly after the glutamatergic synapses mature; when the major glutamate-releasing neuronal population, the photoreceptors, degenerate, the expression of the enzyme decreases in Müller cells (Germer et al., 1997; Reichenbach et al., 1999). In chicken retinal Müller cells, the expression of GS is also regulated by steroid hormones (Linser and Moscona, 1979, 1983); this is probably not a prominent regulatory mechanism in mammalian Müller cells (Germer et al., 1997). It has also been shown that exposure to elevated levels of ammonia (such as occurring in cases of liver failure) causes an up-regulation of GS expression in Müller cells (Germer et al., 1997; Bringmann et al., 1998). As the GS of Müller cells is the only enzyme available for ammonia detoxification in the retina, this is an important 'sideway function' of neurotransmitter recycling ($\rightarrow 2.6.$) (Fig. 5B). Furthermore, as the GS



Fig. 5. Important Müller cell-neuron interactions in the normal mature retina. (A) Spatial buffering of K⁺ ions and water (\rightarrow 2.4., 2.5.). (B) Transmitter recycling (\rightarrow 2.3.). (C) 'Metabolic symbiosis' (\rightarrow 2.2.). (D) Free radical scavenging/GSH metabolism (\rightarrow 2.6.). CA, carbonic anhydrase; cyst., cysteine; GABA, gamma-aminobutyric acid; glut, glutamate; GS, glutamine synthetase; GSH, glutathion; LDH, lactate dehydrogenase; PK, pyruvate kinase; *R*⁺, free radical molecule. For details, see text. Original.

reaction requires energy, a chronical exposure to high ammonia concentrations may cause a metabolic overload of Müller cells, and finally retinal damage by hepatic retinopathy (\rightarrow 3.6.).

Finally, it should be pointed out that the uptake of glutamate is also important for other metabolic pathways and functions of Müller cells; one example is the retinal defense against free radicals (\rightarrow 2.6.) (Fig. 5D).

2.4. Retinal K^+ homeostasis

Müller cells are crucially involved in retinal K⁺ homeostasis, by mediating transcellular spatial buffering K⁺ currents which counteract local changes in extracellular K⁺ concentration associated with neuronal activity (Newman et al., 1984; Reichenbach et al., 1992; Newman and Reichenbach, 1996). A dysregulation of the K^+ homeostasis causes K⁺-evoked neuronal hyper-excitation and glutamate toxicity. As mentioned above $(\rightarrow 1.1.)$ the plasma membranes of Müller cells are highly permeable to K^+ (Newman, 1985) as a consequence of the strong expression of special K⁺ channels (Fig. 3; Newman, 1993); this high K⁺ permeability causes a very negative membrane potential of the cells close to the equilibrium potential of K⁺ ions (Witkovsky et al., 1985). Active neurons release K^+ ions especially within the plexiform (synaptic) layers (Steinberg et al., 1980). This causes a local driving force for K⁺ inward currents into the Müller cells; thus, Müller cells take up the neuron-derived excess K⁺ from the plexiform layers, and release a similar amount of K⁺ into fluid-filled spaces outside of the neural retina (blood, vitreous, and subretinal space) (Fig. 2, 5A) (Newman et al., 1984; Karwoski et al., 1989; Reichenbach et al., 1992). Though the Na,K-ATPase and transporter

molecules contribute to Müller cell-mediated K⁺ homeostasis (Reichenbach et al., 1992), these passive K⁺ currents through inwardly rectifying K⁺ channels (called 'spatial buffering': Orkand, 1986; or 'potassium siphoning': Newman et al., 1984) play a major role in counteracting fast extracellular K⁺ increases. Among the various subtypes of K⁺ channels expressed by Müller cells (Bringmann et al., 1997; Raap et al., 2002; Kofuji et al., 2002; Skatchkov et al., 2006), especially the inwardly rectifying K^+ channel of the Kir4.1 subtype has been implicated in mediating the K⁺ buffering currents (Ishii et al., 1997; Kofuji et al., 2000). The Kir4.1 channel protein is expressed in a polarized fashion in the plasma membrane of Müller cells, with strong enrichment in such membrane domains across which the cells release excess K⁺ into 'sinks', i.e., in perivascular membrane sheets, and at the inner and outer limiting membranes (Fig. 2) (Nagelhus et al., 1999; Kofuji et al., 2000, 2002). Kir4.1 channels are weakly rectifying channels, i.e., they mediate outward and inward K^+ currents with similar amplitudes (Fig. 2) (Takumi et al., 1995). Other types of inwardly rectifying \mathbf{K}^{+} channels, e.g., the Kir2.1 channel, are strongly rectifying channels and mediate predominantly inward K⁺ currents and almost no outward currents (Kubo et al., 1993). Kir2.1 channels are expressed by Müller cells in such membrane domains which abut retinal neurons (Fig. 2) (Kofuji et al., 2002). Thus, the polarized expression of different subtypes of K⁺ channels (together with the local transmembraneous K^+ gradients) determines the direction of the transglial K^+ currents: excess K^+ is absorbed by Müller cells from the space around neurons, and is distributed into the blood, the vitreous, and the subretinal space (Fig. 5A). In reactive gliosis when the currents through Kir4.1 channels are reduced or even missing, other



Fig. 6. Müller cell swelling in the diseased retina. (A) In the healthy retina, Müller cells dehydrate the retinal tissue in dependence on the neuronal activity. Activated neurons release K⁺ into the extracellular space which is taken up by Müller cells via K⁺ channels expressed in their plasma membranes, and which is released into the blood through Kir4.1 channels expressed in the perivascular processes of Müller cells. Osmotically coupled to the transglial K⁺ currents, water flows through the Müller cell bodies from the retinal parenchyma into the blood. The transglial water transport is facilitated by aquaporin-4 water channels expressed in the plasma membranes of Müller cells. (B) Müller cells in ischemic, inflamed, or diabetic retinas downregulate the expression of their Kir4.1 channels which are normally expressed in their perivascular membrane sheets, resulting in inhibition of K⁺ release into the blood and interruption of the dehydrating K⁺ currents through Müller cells, while the cells still take up K⁺ via K⁺ channels (e.g., Kir2.1) expressed in membrane domains that abut retinal neurons. This mechanism increases the osmotical pressure within the cells, and results in an osmotic difference at the gliovascular interface which favors water inflow into the cells via the still expressed aquaporin-4 water channels. In addition, the osmotic stress in perivascular membrane domains activates the phospholipase A₂, and the production of arachidonic acid (and derivatives like prostaglandins [PG] and perhaps also leukotriens [LT]) causes influx of Na⁺ ions and intracellular Na⁺ overload which further increases the osmotical driving force for water inflow into the cells, resulting in Müller cell swelling. Since the dehydration of the retina by Müller cells is dysregulated in the diseased retina, this should also exacerbate the extracellular accumulation of fluid derived from leaky vessels. (C) Glutamate release by retinal neurons evokes a purinergic signaling cascade that inhibits osmotic swelling of Müller cells. This purinergic signaling cascade involves the release of endogenous ATP and adenosine, and the consecutive activation of P2Y₁ and A1 adenosine receptors. A1 receptor activation results in opening of K⁺ channels (likely, TASK channels (Skatchkov et al., 2006)) in the perivascular membrane processes of Müller cells which allows the release of K⁺ ions into the blood and dehydration of the retina, resulting in inhibition of cell swelling. (D) Example of osmotic swelling of Müller cell bodies in a slice of an ischemic rat retina. The somata were recorded before (1), during (2), and after (3) application of a hypotonic solution which contained 60% of control osmolarity. Modified after Pannicke et al. (2004) and Uckermann et al. (2006).

types of K^+ channels such as the TASK channels (Fig. 2) may maintain an 'auxiliary', depolarized membrane potential (Pannicke et al., 2000b; Skatchkov et al., 2006) but potassium siphoning must be dramatically impaired or even extinguished.

Since the vitreous is (in addition to the blood) a main sink for the K^+ redistribution, exchanging the vitreous body by media without the capability to dissolve K^+ ions (e.g., by perfluorocarbon liquid or silicone oil) should disturb the K^+ buffering function of Müller cells and may favor neuronal degeneration (Winter et al., 2000, and references therein).

2.5. Retinal water homeostasis

Under normal conditions, water accumulates within the retinal tissue due to (i) the ongoing endogenous production of water associated with oxidative synthesis of adenosine 5'-triphosphate (ATP), (ii) an influx of water from the blood coupled to the uptake of metabolic substrates such as glucose, and (iii) forcing of water into the retina by the intraocular pressure (Marmor, 1999). This water is continuously redistributed out of the neural retina by the pigment epithelium which dehydrates the subretinal space

(Pederson, 1994), and by Müller cells which dehydrate the inner retinal tissue (Bringmann et al., 2004). Both pigment epithelium and Müller cells mediate transcellular water fluxes that are coupled to fluxes of osmolytes, particularly ions, and which are facilitated by the polarized plasma membrane expression of water transporting proteins, the aquaporins. Müller cells mediate a transcellular water transport from the retinal interstitium through the cell bodies into the blood. The co-expression of K^+ (Kir4.1) and aquaporin-4 water channels in distinct membrane domains of Müller cells has led to the suggestion that the water transport through Müller cells is tightly coupled to the spatial buffering K^+ currents mediated by the cells (Nagelhus et al., 1999) (Figs. 5A, 6). In addition, aquaporin-4 water channels are also expressed in the plexiform layers (Nagelhus et al., 1998); thus, aquaporin-4 is expressed in all membrane domains through which Müller cells take up and release excess K^+ . The coexpression of aquaporin-4 and Kir4.1 (which mediates bidirectional K⁺ currents) may suggest that osmotical differences between the retinal tissue and the blood and vitreous are compensated by K⁺ and water in- and effluxes from Müller cells, in dependence on the momentary neuronal activity (Fig. 6A).

Since K^+ and water transport through Müller cells are coupled, any inhibition of the rapid water transport should delay the K^+ currents through the cells; vice versa, an impairment of transglial K⁺ currents (e.g., after the downregulation of K⁺ channels in reactive Müller cell gliosis) should disturb the rapid transglial water transport (Fig. 6B). What may be the consequences of such alterations? A (direct or indirect) dysregulation of the K^+ homeostasis should impair synaptic activity. In the brain, an association between aquaporin-4-mediated water shifts through glial cells and synaptic activity is suggested by the observation that mice lacking aquaporin-4 display elevated electrographic seizure thresholds and prolonged seizure durations (Binder et al., 2004; Manley et al., 2004). In aquaporin-4 knockout mice, the b-wave potential of the electroretinogram is reduced (Li et al., 2002), suggesting a reduced or disturbed excitability of second-order neurons after inhibition of the rapid transglial water (and, thus, \mathbf{K}^{+}) transport. The transglial water transport may be also involved in mediating neuronal hyper-excitation as occurring during ischemia-reperfusion. This suggestion is based on the observation that aquaporin-4 gene disruption protects against retinal cell death after ischemia (Da and Verkman, 2004). An implication of the aquaporin-4 water channels on Müller cells in ischemia-evoked neuronal apoptosis may be explained by the necessity of rapid water fluxes to accompany the strong ion movements through ionotropic glutamate receptors which mediate excitotoxicity (Bringmann et al., 2005). Thus, the aquaporin-4 water channels expressed by Müller cells may facilitate the constitutive water redistribution out of the retinal parenchyma into the blood as well as the activity-dependent rapid water fluxes necessary for regular neuronal activation and synaptic transmission.

2.6. Other interactions

It has already been mentioned that there are many other functions of Müller cells (some of which remain to be elucidated in detail). In order to understand the pathological conditions described below (\rightarrow 3.), several of these functions are briefly summarized in the following.

An important neuroprotective effect may be exerted by Müller cells because of their involvement in the retinal defense against free radicals. Müller cells synthesize the tripeptide glutathione from glutamate, cysteine, and glycine (Pow and Crook, 1995; Reichelt et al., 1997b; Schütte and Werner, 1998). Reduced glutathione is provided to neurons (Schütte and Werner, 1998; Francke et al., 2003) and acts as a scavenger of free radicals and reactive oxygen compounds (Fig. 5D). During hypoxia and hypoglycemia, the glutathione levels in Müller cells decrease dramatically (Huster et al., 2000); an ischemiainduced lack of glutathione may increase the intraretinal level of oxygen-derived free radicals. Müller cells from aged animals contain a reduced amount of glutathione as compared to cells from young animals (Paasche et al., 1998). Thus, an age-dependent decrease of the Müller cellmediated defense against free radicals may accelerate the pathogenesis of retinopathies in elderly patients.

Another way of neuroprotection is the uptake and/or detoxification of potentially harmful substances and even particles (either intrinsic or foreign) by Müller cells. This involves

- the phagocytosis of debris from dead neurons or pigment epithelial cells (Francke et al., 2001a) and of foreign bodies such as copper particles (Rosenthal and Appleton, 1975) or latex beads (Stolzenburg et al., 1992);
- the expression of multidrug-resistance transporters in the Müller cell membrane (Francke et al., 2003); these are thought to remove large molecules from extracellular space, and probably mediate the rapid uptake of vital dyes into the Müller cells (→ Fig. 1B, C); and
- the GS of Müller cells which has been already mentioned as the only enzyme available for ammonia detoxification in the retina.

Finally, Müller cells may not only participate in the extracellular homeostasis and transport of neuronal 'waste products' and metabolites, but also contribute more directly to information processing in the retina. They may generate and/or store and release neuroactive substances, most likely in dependence on the momentary neuronal activity and/or metabolic state. Such substances might include ATP, glutamate, and D-serine (Newman and Zahs, 1998; Stevens et al., 2003; Newman, 2004).

3. Müller cells in the diseased retina

3.1. Retinal detachment

The neural retina may become separated from the pigment epithelium during trauma or inflammatory eve diseases, or in the presence of retinal holes and tears. Detachment increases the distance between the choriocapillaris and the neural retina, and results in a decreased oxygen and nutrient supply of the photoreceptor cells (Stone et al., 1999; Linsenmeier and Padnick-Silver, 2000). The decreased energy supply was suggested to cause photoreceptor cell death and subsequent retinal degeneration (Mervin et al., 1999). In addition to the initial damage to the outer segments, and subsequent photoreceptor cell deconstruction and apoptotic death (Machemer, 1968; Erickson et al., 1983; Anderson et al., 1983; Cook et al., 1995), there are morphological and biochemical alterations of the inner retinal neurons (Lewis et al., 1998; Faude et al., 2001; Coblentz et al., 2003), as well as a fast activation of pigment epithelial cells and macro- and microglial cells (Lewis et al., 1999; Geller et al., 2001; Francke et al., 2001b; Jackson et al., 2003; Uhlmann et al., 2003). The activation of glial cells in the experimentally detached retina begins immediately after creation of detachment and proceeds during the first hours and days of detachment (Geller et al.,



Fig. 7. Reactive gliosis after experimental detachment of the rabbit retina. GFAP immunoreactivity (green fluorescence in A and C; brown DAB-nickel reaction product in B) after 2 days (A) and one week (B) of detachment. (C) Proliferative vitreoretinopathy (PVR; cell nuclei were counter-stained with Hoechst 33258 dye = blue). (A) At 2 days after detachment, no morphological indications of neurodegeneration are obvious. The Müller cells are immunopositive for GFAP within their inner processes (up to the INL). (B) After one week, many photoreceptor cells are already degenerated as indicated by the thin ONL; the Müller cells display GFAP immunoreactivity throughout their length, and some cells extend additional side branches (arrow). (C) When a PVR develops, some Müller cells grow out of the retina (arrow). The scale bar in B is valid for A–C. (D) Rabbit retina, immediately after experimental detachment; some pigment epithelial cells are adhering (asterisks); raster electron micrograph. (E) Transmission electron micrograph of the sclerad retinal surface after three weeks of detachment. The Müller cell cytoplasm contains many mitochondria and two typical melanin granules. (F) Outer retina after six weeks of detachment. A Müller cell contains melanin granules scattered throughout the sclerad stem process up to the level of the inner nuclear layer (top). GCL, ganglion cell layer; INL, inner nuclear layer; ONL, outer nuclear layer; PRS, photoreceptor segments. Modified after Francke et al. (2001a, b).

2001; Francke et al., 2001b; Uhlmann et al., 2003). Within minutes of detachment, Müller cells show an increased protein phosphorylation (e.g. of the fibroblast growth factor receptor 1 and of the ERKs) and increased production of transcription factors (Geller et al., 2001). Within three hours of detachment, neuronal cell bodies are depleted of glutamate while Müller cells show an increased content of glutamine (Sherry and Townes-Anderson, 2000). Within one day of detachment, Müller cells begin to proliferate, and an increased expression of the intermediate filaments, GFAP and vimentin, is evident (Fisher et al., 1991; Lewis et al., 1994, 1995) (Fig. 7B). At three days of detachment, GFAP labeling of Müller cells extends throughout the retina (Lewis et al., 2005), and Müller cell hypertrophy is obvious in the retina and in the subretinal space; subretinal fibrosis is caused by outgrowing Müller cell processes (Anderson et al., 1986; Fisher et al., 1991; Lewis et al., 1994; Francke et al., 2001b) (Fig. 7C). The detachment-induced proliferation of Müller cells peaks at three to four days of detachment, and may continue at a slower rate for weeks to months (Fisher et al., 1991; Geller et al., 1995). Finally, Müller cells migrate onto the surfaces of the detached retina and proliferate there (Laqua and Machemer, 1975; Erickson et al., 1990) (Fig. 9A, B).

The Müller cell reactivity may be caused (directly or indirectly) by the detachment-induced hypoxia since ischemia has been shown to induce Müller cell proliferation (Stefansson et al., 1988), and since Müller cell proliferation and hypertrophy has been shown to be reduced by oxygen supplementation during experimental detachment (Lewis et al., 1999). The hypertrophy and proliferation of Müller cells in detached retinas may be induced by the basic fibroblast growth factor or endothelin-2 released by photoreceptor cells (Lewis et al., 1992; Rattner and Nathans, 2005), or by direct cone-Müller cell contacts (Lewis and Fisher, 2000). Photoreceptor-derived endothelin-2 may activate Müller cells via their endothelin B receptors (Rattner and Nathans, 2005; Iandiev et al., 2005).

The morphological markers of Müller cell gliosis (Fig. 7C) are associated with distinct physiological alterations. Among others, the Müller cells down-regulate the expression of proteins that are involved in homeostatic functions and in glio-neuronal interactions, such as GS, CRALBP, and carbonic anhydrase (Marc et al., 1998; Lewis et al., 1999). Müller cells also down-regulate the K^+ conductance of their plasma membranes (Müller cells show a decrease in their K^+ currents after two days of detachment; Fig. 3 (Francke et al., 2001b)), and upregulate their intracellular Ca²⁺ responsiveness upon stimulation of distinct receptors such as purinergic P2Y receptors (Fig. 3) (Francke et al., 2001b; Uhlmann et al., 2003; Iandiev et al., 2006a). Both the down-regulation of the K^+ conductance and the enhanced P2 receptor-mediated signaling may be involved in Müller cell proliferation, and are indicators of cellular de-differentiation, reflecting similar features of the immature Müller cells at the early postnatal stage (Fig. 3) (Bringmann et al., 2000, 2001; Moll et al., 2002; Milenkovic et al., 2003; Uhlmann et al., 2003). It has been suggested that the down-regulation of functional K^+ channels in gliotic Müller cells contributes to the neuronal degeneration after detachment, since an impairment of the retinal K⁺ homeostasis favors neuronal hyper-excitation and glutamate toxicity (Francke et al., 2001b, 2005). The degeneration of the detached retina is suggested to be mediated, at least in part, by an impairment of glutamate recycling by Müller cells (Marc et al., 1998; Sherry and Townes-Anderson, 2000). A reduction of GS activity in Müller cells of detached retinas (Erickson et al., 1987; Lewis et al., 1999) may underlie the accumulation of glutamate in these cells (Marc et al., 1998; Lewis et al., 1999) which reflects a disruption of glutamate recycling.

Gliotic Müller cell changes, e.g., the down-regulation of the K⁺ conductance, the up-regulation of the Ca²⁺ responsiveness, and the increased expression of GFAP, are not restricted to the focally detached retina but are also present in the surrounding non-detached retinal areas (Francke et al., 2001b; Uhlmann et al., 2003; Iandiev et al., 2006a) which may be correlated with distinct neuronal alterations within the non-detached areas (Francke et al., 2005). Disturbed supportive functions of gliotic Müller cells in non-detached retinal areas, e.g., an impaired K⁺ buffering due to the down-regulation of K⁺ channels, may explain observations in human patients with local detachments who show functional defects also in such areas of their visual field that correspond to retinal regions which are not detached (Sasoh et al., 1997). This finding is supported by observations of a depressed macular function in cases with purely peripheral detachment (Chisholm et al., 1975), and of a decreased retinal blood flow rate in both detached and non-detached retinal areas (Satoh, 1989).

Reactive gliosis upon detachment may be a clinically significant limiting factor in the recovery of vision after reattachment (Anderson et al., 1986; Fisher and Lewis, 2003: Francke et al., 2005). The hypertrophied and proliferating glial cells fill the spaces left by dying neurons and degenerated axons, synapses, and photoreceptor segments. The subretinal fibrosis (Fig. 7C) reduces the number and integrity of adjacent photoreceptors, and inhibits the regeneration of outer segments (Anderson et al., 1986; Sethi et al., 2005). The outgrowth of Müller cell processes onto the vitreal surface of the retina after reattachment (Fisher and Lewis, 2003) contributes to or even initiates the development of epiretinal membranes, and the hypertrophied side branches of Müller cells that grow into the plexiform layers may limit the reformation of disconnected synaptic contacts (Erickson et al., 1983). It has been proposed that attempts to reduce Müller cell gliosis may inhibit retinal degeneration and support neuroregeneration after reattachment (Fisher and Lewis, 2003; Francke et al., 2005).

3.2. Diabetic retinopathy

Decreases in certain components of the electroretinogram (Sakai et al., 1995) and increased apoptosis of retinal neurons (Barber et al., 1998) indicate an early neuronal degeneration in the diabetic retina. It has been suggested that the functional loss and the death of neurons in the diabetic retina can be attributed to reactive changes in Müller cells (Fletcher et al., 2005). Although diabetic retinopathy is a primary microangiopathy, reactive changes in Müller cells such as an up-regulation of GFAP (Lieth et al., 1998; Barber et al., 2000; Rungger-Brändle et al., 2000) occur early in the course of the disease and precede the onset of overt vascular changes. The upregulation of GFAP in Müller cells in the retina of diabetic rats is inhibited by the aldose reductase inhibitor, sorbinil, as well as by melatonin, suggesting that an hyperactive polyol pathway and oxidative stress contribute to the progression of Müller cell gliosis (Asnaghi et al., 2003; Baydas et al., 2004). In addition, the Müller cell gliosis is characterized by responses to the inflammatory milieu present in the diabetic retina (Gerhardinger et al., 2005).

Diabetic retinopathy is one of the rare pathological conditions in which not all Müller cells survive; in the diabetic retina the cells display both proliferation and apoptosis. As the density of Müller cells is increased in experimental diabetes (Rungger-Brändle et al., 2000), the rate of proliferation appears to exceed that of apoptosis. Apoptosis in the diabetic rat retina occurs primarily in ganglion and Müller cells which is associated with an increased expression of the p75 receptor on both cell types (Hammes et al., 1995; Mizutani et al., 1998). Treatment of diabetic rats with nerve growth factor prevents the apoptosis in both cell types, as well as the development of pericyte loss and acellular occluded capillaries (Hammes et al., 1995). Hyperglycemia induces Müller cell apoptosis in vitro, by inactivation of the Akt survival pathway (Xi et al., 2005). A similar inactivation of Akt may contribute to the Müller cell apoptosis in the diabetic retina (Xi et al., 2005).

Retinal capillaries consist of endothelial cells and pericytes which are covered by a basement membrane. and are ensheathed by membranes of astrocytes and Müller cells. Müller cells participate in the establishment of the blood-retinal barrier (Tout et al., 1993) which is constituted by the tight junctions between the vascular endothelial cells (Wolburg et al., 1999). A disturbance of this function is assumed to contribute to vessel leakage in the diabetic retina. In vitro, Müller cells enhance the endothelial cell barrier function under normoxic conditions, and impair the barrier function under hypoxic conditions (Tretiach et al., 2005). Müller cells produce factors that increase (glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor [GDNF], neurturin, pigment epithelium-derived growth factor [PEDF]) and others that decrease the tightness of the endothelial barrier (tumor necrosis factor, VEGF, etc.) (Aiello et al., 1995; Drescher and Whittum-Hudson, 1996; Jingjing et al., 1999; Igarashi et al., 2000; Eichler et al., 2004a; Yafai et al., 2004). After breakdown of the blood-retinal barrier, the extravasated plasma protein, immunoglobulin G, may further trigger the reactive gliosis of Müller cells (Chu et al., 1999), and serum components leaking into the perivascular environment may stimulate Müller cell proliferation (Kodal et al., 2000).

VEGF (the "vascular permeability factor") is the major angiogenic factor in the retina to promote pathological neovascularization and vascular leakage (D'Amore, 1994; Miller et al., 1994). In the healthy retina, Müller cells provide a permanent anti-proliferative condition for vascular endothelial cells, by release of anti-angiogenic factors such as PEDF and thrombospondin-1 (Eichler et al., 2004b). Hypoxia and glucose deprivation induce VEGF expression in Müller cells (Aiello et al., 1995; Satake et al., 1998; Eichler et al., 2000). The production of VEGF by Müller cells is increased in diabetes. In fact, VEGF expression in Müller cells precedes neovascularization in the diabetic human retina, at times when there is no anatomical evidence of retinal malperfusion (Amin et al., 1997). The hyperglycemia-induced formation of advanced glycation end products (AGEs) in diabetic retinas may contribute to the induction of VEGF production (Hirata et al., 1997), via an activation of the AGE receptors on Müller cells (Hammes et al., 1999). PEDF, which is expressed in the neural retina by neurons and glial cells (Aymerich et al., 2001; Ogata et al., 2002; Eichler et al., 2004a), acts as an anti-angiogenic factor and an opponent of VEGF. PEDF expression is reduced under hypoxic conditions in the retina and Müller cells (Duh et al., 2002; Eichler et al., 2004a); a low PEDF level is a strong predictor of progression of diabetic retinopathy (Boehm et al., 2003).

VEGF and other angiogenic cytokines released by reactive Müller cells, such as basic fibroblast growth factor (FGF-2) and tumor necrosis factor (TNF- α), increase the release of matrix metalloproteinases by endothelial cells (Mignatti et al., 1989; Unemori et al., 1992; Lamoreaux et al., 1998; Behzadian et al., 2001; Majka et al., 2002). Moreover, the Müller cells themselves secrete matrix metalloproteinases, e.g., upon stimulation of purinergic receptors (Milenkovic et al., 2003). High glucose levels stimulate the production of matrix metalloproteinases (Giebel et al., 2005). Matrix metalloproteinases impair the tight junction function in retinal endothelial and pigment epithelial cells, by proteolytic degradation of the tight junction protein, occludin (Giebel et al., 2005), and thus may facilitate vascular leakage. Moreover, the secretion of metalloproteinases allows endothelial cells to penetrate their underlying basement membrane, and eliminates the contact inhibition which normally blocks endothelial cell proliferation (Behzadian et al., 2001). A further way for Müller cells to stimulate vasculogenesis may involve the renin-angiotensin system which has been implicated in diabetes. Müller cells express angiotensin II and renin, with the expression being most obvious in the endfeet closely apposed to retinal blood vessels, while the angiotensin receptors are expressed by neurons and vascular cells (Berka et al., 1995; Fletcher et al., 2005).

Diabetic retinopathy is associated with an increased production of nitric oxide and with glucose-mediated oxidative stress (Trotti et al., 1996; Kowluru and Kennedy, 2001; van Dam, 2002). The expression of the inducible nitric oxide synthase and of the cyclooxygenase-2 increases in the diabetic retina (Du et al., 2004); both enzymes are assumed to be involved in the retinal cell death observed under hyperglycemic conditions. It has been shown that hyperglycemic conditions stimulate the expression of both enzymes in Müller cells in vitro; the hyperglycemia-induced increase of nitric oxide in Müller cells stimulates the production of cytotoxic prostaglandins by cyclooxygenase-2 (Du et al., 2004). Müller cells express the inducible nitric oxide synthase in diabetic retinas (Abu-El-Asrar et al., 2001); the Müller cell-derived nitric oxide may induce neuronal cell death (Goureau et al., 1999). Furthermore, Müller cells respond to the inflammatory milieu of the diabetic retina by an upregulation of gene transcripts for inflammation-related proteins, e.g., for acute phase and antioxidant proteins (Gerhardinger et al., 2005). It has been suggested that the strong enhancement of the proinflammatory cytokine, interleukin-1 β in the diabetic retina (Carmo et al., 1999) may be a primary cause of altered gene expression in Müller cells (Gerhardinger et al., 2005).

It has been mentioned above that reactive Müller cells may contribute to retinal damage not only directly (e. g., by



Fig. 8. Experimental diabetes changes the subcellular distribution of the plasma membrane K^+ conductance of isolated retinal glial cells. The distribution of the inward K^+ currents was determined by focal ejection of a high- K^+ (50 mM) solution onto four different membrane domains of acutely isolated cells. The control K^+ concentration was 3 mM. (A) Representative traces of inward currents in cells from a control (left) and a 6-months diabetic animal (right). Thick bars indicate the ejection time (50 ms). (B) Subcellular distribution of the inward K^+ conductance in cells from control and diabetic animals at 6 months after induction of diabetes. The K^+ conductance is normalized to the values obtained at the endfect membranes (100%). (C) Immunocytochemical double-labeling of Kir4.1 protein (blue) and aquaporin-4 protein (red). The perivascular Kir4.1 expression almost completely disappears in the diabetic retina. Modified from Pannicke et al. (2006).

the release of toxic molecules) but also indirectly, by an impairment of neuron-supportive functions (\rightarrow 1.2.). It is noteworthy in this context that normal Müller cells are the 'communicators' between vessels and neurons, responsible for the uptake of glucose from the circulation, the glycolytic metabolism of glucose, and the transfer of substrates such as lactate and pyruvate to neurons $(\rightarrow 2.2.)$. Generally, the uptake and metabolization of glucose in glial cells are closely linked to the release of glutamate from neurons and its uptake by glia (Westergaard et al., 1995; Sonnewald et al., 1997; Poitry et al., 2000). The limiting factor in both glutamate and glucose uptake by glial cells is the activity of the Na,K-ATPase which decreases very rapidly in hyperglycemic tissues (MacGregor and Matschinsky, 1986; Ottlecz et al., 1993). An impairment of the glial sodium pump causes a depolarization of the plasma membrane that lowers the efficiency of the electrogenic glutamate uptake ($\rightarrow 2.3$.). Insufficient glutamate uptake was shown to cause a decrease of the glutathione synthesis in Müller cells (Reichelt et al., 1997b) which must enhance oxidative stress in the retina. Likewise, the conversion of glutamate into glutamine is reduced in the diabetic retina, resulting in an increased retinal glutamate content (Lieth et al., 1998). Whether a dysfunction of the glutamate uptake of diabetic Müller cells (Li and Puro, 2002) contributes to the reduced formation of glutamine remains to be clarified (Ward et al., 2005). Finally, an impairment of Na,K-ATPase activity should disturb retinal K⁺ homeostasis since a very negative membrane potential is a prerequisite for effective K⁺ distribution by Müller cells (Newman, 1985; Chao et al., 1994; Bringmann et al., 1999a) (\rightarrow 2.4.).

In respect to impaired retinal K^+ homeostasis it is aggravating that the K^+ conductance of Müller cells is significantly reduced in experimental diabetes, as documented after retinal detachment (Fig. 3B). This decrease of K^+ conductance is associated with a mislocation of the Kir4.1 protein in the diabetic retina (Pannicke et al., 2006). Though the Kir4.1 protein is still expressed within the retinal tissue, the prominent expression at both limiting membranes and, particularly, around the vessels is absent (Fig. 8C). This suggests that the decrease of the K^+ currents in cells from diabetic retinas is caused by an alteration in the expression pattern of Kir4.1 channels. The downregulation of Kir4.1 channel-mediated currents should cause an impairment of the transglial K⁺ currents and, therefore, a disturbance of the retinal K⁺ homeostasis which may contribute to neuronal cell death in the diabetic retina (\rightarrow 2.4.). A strong reduction of the K⁺ conductance was also found in Müller cells of human patients with proliferative diabetic retinopathy (Bringmann et al., 2002). Müller cells of the human retina display an agedependent decrease of their K⁺ conductance (Bringmann et al., 2003); this age-related down-regulation should contribute to retinal complications of diabetes in elderly patients.

Glial cells are crucially implicated in activity-dependent regulation of the local blood flow, and it has been suggested that the release of K^+ ions from perivascular endfeet plays a role in local dilation of arterioles (Paulson and Newman, 1987). A decrease of the activity-dependent K^+ efflux in the diabetic tissue may result in a decrease of the local blood flow, thus exacerbating hypoxic insults. Since the gating of Kir4.1 channels is dependent on intracellular ATP (Takumi et al., 1995; Kusaka and Puro, 1997), a functional inactivation of these channels may thus further aggravate the impairment of retinal K^+ homeostasis in ischemic tissue areas.

3.3. Macular edema

Most frequently, the presence of a macular edema is responsible for the decreased vision in patients with diabetic retinopathy (Bresnick, 1983; Larsen et al., 2005).

By compression of retinal neurons, nerve fibers, and capillaries, edema contributes to photoreceptor degeneration and neuronal cell death, and exacerbates the ischemic conditions. The development of chronic edema depends on two parameters: the rate of fluid entry into the retinal parenchyma through leaky vessel walls, and the rate of fluid reabsorption from the retinal tissue back into the blood. The fluid absorption is carried out by the pigment epithelium (which absorbs the fluid from the subretinal space) and by Müller cells (which absorb the fluid from the inner retinal tissue by transcellular water transport) (Bringmann et al., 2004) (\rightarrow 2.5.). Retinal edema may be caused by an opening of the blood-retinal barrier (vascular leakage causing extracellular edema) or by swelling of retinal cells (intracellular, cytotoxic edema). The development of macular edema is thought to be primarily caused by vascular leakage (Marmor, 1999; Antcliff and Marshall, 1999). However, it has been shown that clinically significant diabetic macular edema occurs only when (in addition to vascular leakage) the active transport mechanisms of the blood-retinal barriers are dysfunctional (Mori et al., 2002), suggesting that a disturbance of fluid absorption from retinal tissue is a necessary step in edema formation. In the preclinical stage of diabetic retinopathy, there are two types of increased retinal thickness that may or may not be associated with angiographic vascular leakage (Lobo et al., 2000). Also, the presence of fluid-filled cysts is not necessarily associated with vascular leakage, suggesting that both vasogenic edema and cell swelling may contribute to cystoid macular edema. It has been suggested that swelling of glial cells is involved in the development of cystoid edema, with the cysts being formed by swollen and dving Müller cells (Fine and Brucker, 1981; Yanoff et al., 1984).

Since the water transport through Müller cells is coupled to K^+ currents ($\rightarrow 2.5.$), a down-regulation of K^+ channels by Müller cells should impair the transglial water transport out of the retinal tissue. Müller cells in diabetic retinas of the rat display a down-regulation of K^+ currents (\rightarrow 3.2.) associated with a mislocation of the major K^+ channel of Müller cells (Kir4.1) normally present in perivascular and endfeet membranes of the cells (Pannicke et al., 2006) (Fig. 8). The decrease of K^+ currents may result in an accumulation of K^+ ions and, therefore, in an accumulation of fluid in the retinal tissue (Pannicke et al., 2004; Bringmann et al., 2004). Müller cells in slices of diabetic rat retinas swell under hypotonic conditions; this swelling is not observed in cells from control tissues. (The hypotonic conditions mimicks the osmotic gradient between the hyperosmolar retinal tissue [accumulation of K^+ and extraretinal fluid-filled spaces such as blood and vitreous.) The osmotic swelling of Müller cells in diabetic retinas is inhibited by blocking of phospholipase A2 or cyclooxygenase, and in the presence of a reducing agent, suggesting that inflammatory conditions and oxidative stress play important roles in Müller cell swelling (Pannicke et al., 2006, Fig. 6B). The swelling of Müller cells under anisoosmotic conditions may suggest that Müller cells have lost their capability to rapidly extrude osmolytes (in particular, K^+ ions) and, therefore, water into the blood and vitreous. A similar osmotic swelling and down-regulation of K^+ channels in Müller cells of the rat retina was observed during retinal ischemia-reperfusion and during endotoxin-induced uveoretinitis (Pannicke et al., 2004, 2005).

The anti-inflammatory glucocorticoid, triamcinolone acetonide, is commonly used clinically for the rapid resolution of diabetic macular edema (Martidis et al., 2002; Jonas et al., 2003). Triamcinolone inhibits vascular leakage and inflammation, by reduction of the secretion of VEGF (Ando et al., 1994; Matsuda et al., 2005). However, triamcinolone also inhibits the osmotic Müller cell swelling in the postischemic, inflamed, and diabetic retina (Uckermann et al., 2005; Pannicke et al., 2006). The effect of triamcinolone is mediated by stimulation of the release of endogenous adenosine: activation of adenosine A1 receptors leads to an opening of K⁺ and Cl⁻ channels in the plasma membrane of Müller cells (Uckermann et al., 2005; Fig. 6C). An efficient therapy of the macular edema is thought to involve both inhibition of vascular leakage and stimulation of the coupled osmolyte and water transport through Müller cells.

3.4. Proliferative retinopathies

Proliferative vitreoretinopathy (PVR) is a frequent complication of retinal detachment (and, unfortunately, of retina surgery) (Fisher and Anderson, 1994). PVR is suggested to represent a maladapted, over-stimulated wound healing process, and is a disease characterized by strong proliferation of retinal cells including Müller cells, and the formation of fibrocellular membranes on both surfaces of the retina (Fig. 9). Müller cells are an important constituent of the fibroproliferative scar tissue formed during PVR or during proliferative diabetic retinopathy (PDR) (Nork et al., 1987). The periretinal membranes are connected with the sensory retina via hypertrophied Müller cell fibers (Fig. 7C). Müller cells in fibroproliferative membranes may transdifferentiate into myofibroblasts that generate tractional forces in response to growth factors of the vitreous, thus causing traction retinal detachment (Guidry, 2005). During diabetes, Müller cell processes grow into the lumen of occluded vessels where they form a glial scar; the glial scars within vessels may cause vessel occlusion (Bek, 1997).

Müller cells from surgically excised retinal tissue of patients with PVR or PDR display strong alterations of their plasma membrane characteristics: the cells show hypertrophy, an almost complete absence of currents through inwardly rectifying K^+ channels, and a decrease of the membrane potential (Francke et al., 1997; Bringmann et al., 1999a, 2002). On the other hand, the activity of Ca²⁺-dependent K⁺ channels, necessary for the proliferation of Müller cells (Puro et al., 1989; Kodal et al., 2000; Bringmann et al., 2001), is increased in Müller cells from



Fig. 9. Proliferative Vitreoretinopathy. (A) Schematic drawing of increasing degrees of Müller cell reactivity (from left to right). (B) Transmission electron micrograph of a reactive Müller cell (MC) migrating through a hole in the inner limiting membrane (arrowheads) into the vitreous body (asterisk); the nucleus (N) of the Müller cell is already translocated into the innermost retinal layer. (C) Ophthalmoscopic image of an experimentally induced PVR in the rabbit eye; note the large, folded cellular masses on the vitread surface of the retina.

PVR retinas (Bringmann et al., 1999a). This current pattern suggests a de-differentiation of the cells, reminiscent of the pattern characteristic of non-differentiated glial cells early in ontogenesis (Fig. 3) (Bringmann et al., 1999b). Retinas of patients with proliferative vitreoretinopathy display a strong downregulation of the gene expression of Kir4.1 and aquaporin-4 proteins (Tenckhoff et al., 2005). It has been proposed that the downregulation of the K^+ channels is a prerequisite for the re-entry of gliotic Müller cells into the proliferation cycle (Bringmann et al., 2000). The strong downregulation of K^+ and water channels in Müller cells also suggests that retinal K⁺ and water homeostasis are largely disturbed during proliferative retinopathies, while the cell depolarization impairs the electrogenic neurotransmitter uptake. Indeed, PVR and PDR are accompanied by a massive loss of retinal neurons, and finally end up in blindness. An increase of fast transient Na⁺ currents in Müller cells from patients with PVR (Francke et al., 1996) may indicate a transdifferentiation towards neuron-like cells.

Another feature of gliotic Müller cells which is associated with their proliferation is an upregulation of their responsiveness to extracellular ATP mediated by activation of purinergic P2 receptors. Human Müller cells from PVR retinas display an increase of ionotropic P2X₇ receptormediated cation currents (Bringmann et al., 2001) while rabbit Müller cells from PVR retinas show an upregulation of their responses to activation of metabotropic P2Y receptors (Fig. 3) (Francke et al., 2002). The increased responsiveness of Müller cells to extracellular ATP may support their mitotic activity in proliferative retinopathies (Moll et al., 2002) and may stimulate the release of different growth factors, e.g., of heparin-binding epidermal and platelet-derived growth factors (Milenkovic et al., 2003). Since the platelet-derived growth factor is one of the crucial factors involved in the development of PVR (Andrews et al., 1999), the release of ATP and of growth factors by Müller cells may be involved in the development of proliferative retinopathies.

3.5. Ischemia-reperfusion

Within one hour of ischemia-reperfusion, Müller cells become reactive, as reflected by an enhanced phosphorylation of ERKs (Akiyama et al., 2002). Inhibition of ERK activation results in an elevated degree of ganglion cell death (Akiyama et al., 2002), likely due to inhibition of the release of neurotrophic factors by Müller cells. The neuronal cell loss accompanying ischemia results mainly from an accumulation of excessive amounts of glutamate, and from an over-stimulation of ionotropic glutamate receptors (Osborne et al., 2004). The glutamate transporter GLAST expressed by Müller cells mitigates the ischemic damage to the retina (Harada et al., 1998). During retinal ischemia, glutamate is increasingly released from neurons (Kobayashi et al., 1999) while the glutamate uptake is reduced due to high extracellular K⁺ which depolarizes Müller cells and, thus, leads to a saturation of the uptake already at low glutamate concentrations (Napper et al., 1999). In experimental ischemia in the rat retina, the expression of the glutamate transporter GLAST in Müller cells is unaltered but its ability to transport glutamate is greatly reduced (Barnett et al., 2001); this is likely caused by a depolarization of Müller cells due to a downregulation of their K⁺ channels similar as after retinal detachment and in diabetic retinopathy (Fig. 3B) (Pannicke et al., 2004). The strong reduction of Müller cell-mediated glutamate uptake in ischemic insults is accompanied by a significant accumulation of glutamate in retinal neurons which, under normal conditions, is prevented by rapid glutamate uptake into Müller cells (Barnett et al., 2001). Experimental knockout of GLAST leads to an increase of the retinal sensitivity to ischemia and to ganglion cell death (Harada et al., 1998). Likewise, a mislocation of the Kir4.1 protein in Müller cells of mice carrying a genetic inactivation of the dystrophin gene product, Dp71, was associated with an enhanced vulnerability of retinal ganglion cells to ischemic stress (Dalloz et al., 2003), supporting the view that K⁺ buffering and glutamate uptake by Müller cells are crucial in cases of ischemia/ reperfusion.

In some respect, glaucoma is related to ischemia/ reperfusion. In glaucomatous eyes, Müller cells display hypertrophy and increased expression of GFAP (Tezel et al., 2003). It has been suggested that astrocytes and Müller cells are involved in mediating the early death of retinal ganglion cells upon elevated intraocular pressure (Lam et al., 2003). Functional disorders of the glutamate uptake in Müller cells may be one of the etiologies of glaucoma, especially in patients with satisfactory control of intraocular pressure (Dreyer et al., 1996; Kawasaki et al., 2000).

3.6. Hepatic retinopathy

In contrast to the above-mentioned retinal diseases where retinal neurons or the vasculature are the targets of the pathogenic stimuli, there are retinal diseases involving a primary Müller cell injury. Müller cell dysfunction then causes impaired neuronal function and visual deficits (\rightarrow 1.1., 1.2.). Müller cells were implicated to be primarily affected in hepatic retinopathy (Reichenbach et al., 1995a; Albrecht et al., 1998), methanol-induced retinopathy (Garner et al., 1995), a disease caused by autoantibodies directed to Müller cells (Peek et al., 1998), Müller cell sheen dystrophy (Kellner et al., 1998), and glaucoma (Dreyer et al., 1996; Kawasaki et al., 2000). Moreover, retinoschisis (De Jong et al., 1991), macular hole formation (Gass, 1999), and one type of retinitis pigmentosa (Maw et al., 1997) have been suggested to be caused by Müller cell dysfunction.

Hepatic retinopathy is assumed to be caused by the high level of serum ammonia in patients with liver insufficiency; the primary pathological alterations are found in the Müller cells and retinal astrocytes (Reichenbach et al., 1995a). In the retina, the detoxification of excess ammonia occurs only in the Müller cells by the formation of glutamine from ammonia and glutamate; the high energy consumption of the detoxification is assumed to produce a decreased energy state in Müller cells which damages the cells. The high metabolic activity caused by the necessity to detoxify ammonia is reflected by the enlargement of cell nuclei (Reichenbach et al., 1995a), the glycogen depletion (Ieb, 1971), and the swollen mitochondria (Albrecht et al., 1998). Characteristic Müller cell alterations such as cell swelling, vacuolization, increased GFAP and GS content, down-regulation of K⁺ channels, and membrane depolarization are inducible in vitro by enhanced levels of ammonia (Reichenbach et al., 1995b; Germer et al., 1997; Bringmann et al., 1998). By contrast, retinal neurons display no apparent morphological changes. The necessity to detoxify the retina from ammonia results in an enhanced glutamate consumption for glutamine synthesis; the competition with glutathione formation may cause a lack of glutathione, and thus may accelerate pathogenic mechanisms involving free radicals (Reichenbach et al., 1999). A similar pathogenic mechanism (i.e., based on energy depletion in Müller cells caused by the need to detoxify the retina) has been suggested for the methanolinduced retinopathy (Garner et al., 1995).

3.7. Retinoschisis

Retinoschisis is characterized by a cystic degeneration mainly in the deep nerve fiber layer that causes intraretinal splitting. Though the mutation responsible for human X-linked retinoschisis has been localized in the gene coding for the protein, retinoschisin, which is expressed in photoreceptor and bipolar cells and is probably not directly related to Müller cells (Sauer et al., 1997; Grayson et al., 2000; Reid et al., 2003), an involvement of Müller cells in the pathogenic mechanisms of the disease has been proposed (Yanoff et al., 1968). Retinoschisin is selectively taken-up and transported by Müller cells into the inner retina in a direction-specific manner (Reid and Farber, 2005). Deposits of amorphous filamentous material are present within degenerated Müller cells and in adjacent extracellular spaces (Kirsch et al., 1996) which are likely of glial origin. This might be indicative of a degeneration (possibly secondary) of Müller cells. In the course of retinoschisis the inner Müller cell processes become thin and elongated; these 'stretched' fibers run through the widening 'empty' cysts until they become eventually disrupted, and the innermost retinal remnant-layer detaches from the rest of the tissue (Yanoff et al., 1968). It is still a matter of debate whether the mechanical weakness of thin elongated Müller cell processes is a causative factor (Kirsch et al., 1996) or a side-effect of retinoschisis (Mooy et al., 2002). In this respect it is noteworthy that in vimentin^{-/}GFAP⁻ mice lacking intermediate filaments in their Müller cells, retinoschisis does not normally occur; however, in case of ischemia/reperfusion-induced neovascularization or mechanical stress the inner retinal layers appear mechanically weakened (Lundkvist et al., 2004).

Clearly, should the inner Müller cell processes become thin and elongated, or even disrupted, their capability of K^+ syphoning into the vitreous and inner retinal blood vessels must be impaired. An excess of extracellular K^+ , due to a decreased K^+ buffering capacity of Müller cells, has been suggested to cause the Mizuo-Nakamura phenomenon in retinoschisis (De Jong et al., 1991). An insufficient clearance of K^+ ions (and, in turn, a depolarization-mediated inhibition of glutamate uptake) should aggravate neurodegeneration within the cystic tissue.

3.8. Retinitis pigmentosa and support of neuronal survival

The loss of photoreceptors in retinitis pigmentosa is usually followed by alterations in the pigment epithelium and in the retinal glia. However, there are also mutations in Müller cell proteins which may cause photoreceptor cell death. In an autosomal recessive retinitis pigmentosa, a mutation of the gene encoding CRALBP was described (Maw et al., 1997). CRALBP is not expressed in photoreceptors but is abundant in pigment epithelial and Müller cells, where it carries 11-*cis*-retinol and 11-*cis*-retinaldehyde. The mutant protein lacks the ability to bind 11-*cis*retinaldehyde. The lack of functional CRALBP may lead to a disruption of retinal vitamin-A metabolism (Maw et al., 1997). In Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) rats, the content of glutamine and arginine is elevated in Müller cells prior to the onset of photoreceptor death, due to anomalies in glutamate degradation (Fletcher and Kalloniatis, 1996).

In inherited or injury-induced retinal degeneration, e.g., in retinitis pigmentosa, photoreceptor cells and inner retinal neurons die predominantly by programmed cell death (apoptosis) (Chang et al., 1993; Portera-Cailliau et al., 1994; Cook et al., 1995; Abler et al., 1996). Neurotrophic factors such as basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF or FGF-2), brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF), and GDNF, inhibit apoptosis and promote the survival of retinal neurons and photoreceptor cells (Faktorovich et al., 1990; LaVail et al., 1992; Di Polo et al., 1998; Frasson et al., 1999; Chong et al., 1999). Müller cells play an active role in the regulation of the death and survival of retinal neurons and photoreceptor cells, in particular by the release of neurotrophic factors and by mediating the effects of these factors. The protective effects of neurotrophic factors on photoreceptor cells may be induced directly (in the case of bFGF), or-in the case of BDNF and CNTF for which receptors are not present on photoreceptor cells-indirectly, through activation of Müller cells and inner retinal neurons (Kirsch et al., 1997; Wahlin et al., 2000, 2001). Intraocular administration of BDNF or CNTF results in exclusive activation of Müller cells (which is reflected in an increased phosphorylation of ERKs and in an increased c-Fos and GFAP staining), but not photoreceptors (Wahlin et al., 2000). Factors secreted by activated microglial cells, or extracellular glutamate, boost the production of secondary trophic factors by Müller cells, thus increasing the survival of photoreceptor cells (Harada et al., 2002; Taylor et al., 2003). Neurotrophic factors such as CNTF may cause a shift of retinal glial cells toward a more neuroprotective phenotype which is characterized by, for instance, a more efficient buffering of high concentrations of glutamate (van Adel et al., 2005).

Neurotrophins control neuronal survival via two types of receptors: the Trk family of high-affinity tyrosine kinase receptors transmit prosurvival signals, while the lowaffinity p75 neurotrophin receptor transmits anti-survival signals (Casaccia-Bonnefil et al., 1999). Müller cells are implicated in either photoreceptor cell death or rescue, in dependence on the receptor activated. Neurotrophin-3 mediates its protective effect on photoreceptor cells by binding on the TrkC receptors of photoreceptors and of Müller cells, which latter event results in an increased release of bFGF from Müller glia (Harada et al., 2000). On the other hand, nerve growth factor reduces the bFGF production in Müller cells via binding on the p75 receptors; the reduced bFGF release by Müller cells may contribute to increased photoreceptor apoptosis (Harada et al., 2000). Additional (previous) retinal injuries like mechanical stress (Faktorovich et al., 1990; Silverman and Hughes, 1990) or preconditioning with bright light (Liu et al., 1998) may protect photoreceptors from degeneration because these stimuli cause an up-regulation of bFGF and CNTF expression in Müller cells (Wen et al., 1995; Liu et al., 1998). Likewise, argon laser photocoagulation slows photoreceptor degeneration in the RCS rat which correlates with an induction of bFGF in retinal blood vessels, Müller cells and astrocytes (Chu et al., 1998).

4. Future directions

Since Müller cells contact all retinal neurons and show a high resistance against various pathogenic stimuli, they are well-situated as targets for therapeutic interventions to inhibit neuronal degeneration. Somatic gene therapy may be carried out via Müller cells. A gene transfer, e.g., of neurotrophic factors, to Müller cells may help to support their protective role in the survival of retinal neurons. Müller cells were found to be primarily transfected when genes, e.g., the gene for BDNF, were delivered by adenoviral vector-injections into the vitreous chamber (Isenmann et al., 1998; Sakamoto et al., 1998; Di Polo et al., 1998). Because Müller cells span the entire thickness of the retina, adenovirus-mediated gene delivery to these cells should be useful to modulate the survival of all neuronal cell types within the retina. Moreover, stimulation of the supportive function of Müller cells has the advantage to stimulate the survival of retinal neurons and photoreceptors independent of the concrete mutation or pathological condition underlying neuronal cell death.

Postmitotic Müller cells retain a remarkable plasticity even in adult retinas; they are capable of de-differentiation and proliferation. Moreover, a subpopulation of Müller cells express markers for neural progenitor (stem) cells even in the adult tissue ("Müller stem cells") (Limb et al., 2005). Transplantation of Müller stem cells into RCS rats preserved visual function and maintained retinal integrity (Limb et al., 2004). Transient Müller cell proliferation induced by NMDA excitotoxicity in postnatal chicken retinas causes a de-differentiation of Müller cells into retinal progenitor-like cells (Fischer and Reh, 2001). These cells may remain undifferentiated for longer time periods, may generate new Müller cells, or may transdifferentiate into retinal neurons. Similarly, Müller cells may be stimulated to transdifferentiate into neurons and photoreceptor cells in the adult rat retina after toxic injury produced with NMDA (Ooto et al., 2004). These observations suggest that Müller cells are a potential source of neural regeneration within the postnatal retina (Fischer and Reh, 2001). It is conceivable that de-differentiated Müller cells, or "Müller stem cells", could be used in the future for cell-based therapies to treat or prevent retinal

disease (Limb et al., 2005), with the possibility of simultaneous application of transgenes that guides the direction of the differentiation, thus determining specific neuron types which should develop from Müller stem cells. Moreover, degenerated retinas may be substituted by new retinas generated in culture from Müller stem cells. Perhaps, glial scars, e.g., epiretinal membranes in PVR eyes, may be a source to obtain de-differentiated Müller cells from which new autologous retinas could be formed in vitro. More knowledge is necessary about the pluripotency of Müller cells and the practical ways how these potencies can be used to treat retinopathies.

Acknowledgements

Some of the work presented in this article was conducted with grants provided by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (BR 1249/2-1; RE 849/8-3; RE 849/10-1; WI 880/13-2; GRK 1097/1) and the Interdisziplinäres Zentrum für Klinische Forschung (IZKF) at the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Leipzig (Projects C5 and C21).

References

- Abler, A.S., Chang, C.J., Ful, J., Tso, M.O., Lam, T.T., 1996. Photic injury triggers apoptosis of photoreceptor cells. Res. Commun. Mol. Pathol. Pharmacol. 92, 177–189.
- Abu-El-Asrar, A.M., Desmet, S., Meersschaert, A., Dralands, L., Missotten, L., Geboes, K., 2001. Expression of the inducible isoform of nitric oxide synthase in the retinas of human subjects with diabetes mellitus. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 132, 551–556.
- Aiello, L.P., Northrup, J.M., Keyt, B.A., Takagi, H., Iwamoto, M.A., 1995. Hypoxic regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor in retinal cells. Arch. Ophthalmol. 113, 1538–1544.
- Akiyama, H., Nakazawa, T., Shimura, M., Tomita, H., Tamai, M., 2002. Presence of mitogen-activated protein kinase in retinal Muller cells and its neuroprotective effect ischemia-reperfusion injury. Neuroreport 13, 2103–2107.
- Albrecht, J., Gadamski, R., Kuhrt, H., Walski, M., Reichenbach, A., 1998. Retinal gliopathy accompanying thioacetamide-induced liver insufficiency: light and electron microscopic observations. Acta Neuropathol. 96, 57–66.
- Amin, R.H., Frank, R.N., Kennedy, A., Eliott, D., Puklin, J.E., Abrams, G.W., 1997. Vascular endothelial growth factor is present in glial cells of the retina and optic nerve of human subjects with nonproliferative diabetic retinopathy. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 38, 36–47.
- Anderson, D.H., Stern, W.H., Fisher, S.K., Erickson, P.A., Borgula, G.A., 1983. Retinal detachment in the cat: the pigment epithelial– photoreceptor interface. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 24, 906–926.
- Anderson, D.H., Guerin, C.J., Erickson, P.A., Stern, W.H., Fisher, S.K., 1986. Morphological recovery in the reattached retina. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 27, 168–183.
- Ando, N., Sen, H.A., Berkowitz, B.A., Wilson, C.A., de Juan, E.jr., 1994. Localization and quantification of blood–retinal barrier breakdown in experimental proliferative vitreoretinopathy. Arch. Opthalmol. 112, 117–122.
- Andrews, A., Balciunaite, E., Leong, F.L., Tallquist, M., Soriano, P., Refojo, M., Kazlauskas, A., 1999. Platelet-derived growth factor plays a key role in proliferative vitreoretinopathy. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 40, 2683–2689.
- Antcliff, R.J., Marshall, J., 1999. The pathogenesis of edema in diabetic maculopathy. Semin. Ophthalmol. 14, 223–232.

- Asnaghi, V., Gerhardinger, C., Hoehn, T., Adeboje, A., Lorenzi, M., 2003. A role for the polyol pathway in the early neuroretinal apoptosis and glial changes induced by diabetes in the rat. Diabetes 52, 506–511.
- Aymerich, M.S., Alberdi, E.M., Martinez, A., Becerra, S.P., 2001. Evidence for pigment epithelium-derived factor receptors in the neural retina. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 42, 3287–3293.
- Barber, A., Lieth, E., Khin, S., Antonetti, D., Buchanan, A., Gardner, T., 1998. Neural apoptosis in the retina during experimental and human diabetes: early onset and effect of insulin. J. Clin. Invest. 102, 783–791.
- Barber, A.J., Antonetti, D.A., Gardner, T.W., 2000. Altered expression of retinal occludin and glial fibrillary acidic protein in experimental diabetes. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 41, 3561–3568.
- Barnett, N.L., Pow, D.V., 2000. Antisense knockdown of GLAST, a glial glutamate transporter, compromises retinal function. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 41, 585–591.
- Barnett, N.L., Pow, D.V., Robinson, S.R., 2000. Inhibition of Muller cell glutamine synthetase rapidly impairs the retinal response to light. Glia 30, 64–73.
- Barnett, N.L., Pow, D.V., Bull, N.D., 2001. Differential pertubations of neuronal and glial glutamate transport systems in retinal ischaemia. Neurochem. Int. 39, 291–299.
- Baydas, G., Tuzcu, M., Yasar, A., Baydas, B., 2004. Early changes in glial reactivity and lipid peroxidation in diabetic rat retina: effects of melatonin. Acta Diabetol. 41, 123–128.
- Behzadian, M.A., Wang, X.L., Windsor, L.J., Ghaly, N., Caldwell, R.B., 2001. TGF-ß increases retinal endothelial cell permeability by increasing MMP-9: possible role of glial cells in endothelial barrier function. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 42, 853–859.
- Bek, T., 1997. Immunohistochemical characterization of retinal glial cell changes in areas of vascular occlusion secondary to diabetic retinopathy. Acta Ophthalmol. Scand. 75, 388–392.
- Berka, J.L., Stubbs, A.J., Wang, D.Z., DiNicolantonio, R., Alcorn, D., Campbell, D.J., Skinner, S.L., 1995. Renin-containing Muller cells of the retina display endocrine features. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 36, 1450–1458.
- Biedermann, B., Bringmann, A., Reichenbach, A., 2002. High-affinity GABA uptake in retinal glial (Müller) cells of the guinea pig: electrophysiological characterization, immunohistochemical localization, and modeling of efficiency. Glia 39, 217–228.
- Bignami, A., Dahl, D., 1979. The radial glia of Müller in the rat retina and their response to injury. An immunofluorescence study with antibodies to glial fibrillary acidic (GFA) protein. Exp. Eye Res. 28, 63–69.
- Binder, D.K., Oshio, K., Ma, T., Verkman, A.S., Manley, G.T., 2004. Elevated seizure threshold in mice deficient in the aquaporin-4 water channel. Neuroreport 15, 259–262.
- Boehm, B.O., Lang, G., Volpert, O., Jehle, P.M., Kurkhaus, A., Rosinger, S., Lang, G.K., Bouck, N., 2003. Low content of the natural ocular anti-angiogenic agent pigment epithelium-derived factor (PEDF) in aqueous humor predicts progression of diabetic retinopathy. Diabetologia 46, 394–400.
- Bresnick, G.H., 1983. Diabetic maculopathy. A critical review highlighting diffuse macular edema. Ophthalmology 90, 1301–1317.
- Brew, H., Attwell, D., 1987. Electrogenic glutamate uptake is a major current carrier in the membrane of axolotl retinal glial cells. Nature 327, 707–709.
- Bringmann, A., Reichenbach, A., 2001. Role of Müller cells in retinal degenerations. Front. Biosci. 6, E77–E92.
- Bringmann, A., Faude, F., Reichenbach, A., 1997. Mammalian retinal glial (Müller) cells express large-conductance Ca²⁺-activated K⁺ channels that are modulated by Mg²⁺ and pH, and activated by protein kinase A. Glia 19, 311–323.
- Bringmann, A., Kuhrt, H., Germer, A., Biedermann, B., Reichenbach, A., 1998. Müller (glial) cell development in vivo and in retinal explant cultures: morphology and electrophysiology, and the effects of elevated ammonia. J. Hirnforsch. 39, 193–206.
- Bringmann, A., Francke, M., Pannicke, T., Biedermann, B., Faude, F., Enzmann, V., Wiedemann, P., Reichelt, W., Reichenbach, A., 1999a.

Human Müller glial cells: altered potassium channel activity in proliferative vitreoretinopathy. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 40, 3316–3323.

- Bringmann, A., Biedermann, B., Reichenbach, A., 1999b. Expression of potassium channels during postnatal differentiation of rabbit Müller glial cells. Eur. J. Neurosci. 11, 2883–2896.
- Bringmann, A., Francke, M., Pannicke, T., Biedermann, B., Kodal, H., Faude, F., Reichelt, W., Reichenbach, A., 2000. Role of glial K⁺ channels in ontogeny and gliosis: a hypothesis based upon studies on Müller cells. Glia 29, 35–44.
- Bringmann, A., Pannicke, T., Moll, V., Milenkovic, I., Faude, F., Enzmann, V., Wolf, S., Reichenbach, A., 2001. Up-regulation of P2X₇ receptor currents in Müller glial cells during proliferative vitreoretinopathy. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 42, 860–867.
- Bringmann, A., Pannicke, T., Uhlmann, S., Kohen, L., Wiedemann, P., Reichenbach, A., 2002. Membrane conductance of Müller glial cells in proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Can. J. Ophthalmol. 37, 221–227.
- Bringmann, A., Kohen, L., Wolf, S., Wiedemann, P., Reichenbach, A., 2003. Age-related decrease of potassium currents in human retinal glial (Müller) cells. Can. J. Ophthalmol. 38, 464–468.
- Bringmann, A., Reichenbach, A., Wiedemann, P., 2004. Pathomechanisms of cystoid macular edema. Ophthalm. Res. 36, 241–249.
- Bringmann, A., Uckermann, O., Pannicke, T., Iandiev, I., Reichenbach, A., Wiedemann, P., 2005. Neuronal versus glial cell swelling in the ischemic retina. Acta Opthalmol. Scand. 83, 528–538.
- Bunt-Milam, A.H., Saari, J.C., 1983. Immunocytochemical localization of two retinoid-binding proteins in vertebrate retina. J. Cell. Biol. 97, 703–712.
- Burke, J.M., Smith, J.M., 1981. Retinal proliferation in reponse to vitreous hemoglobin or iron. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 20, 582–592.
- Cammer, W., 1991. Immunostaining of carbamoylphosphate synthase II and fatty acid synthase in glial cells in rat, mouse, and hamster brains suggests roles for carbonic anhydrase in biosynthetic processes. Neurosci. Lett. 129, 247–250.
- Carmo, A., Cunha-Vaz, J.G., Carvalho, A.P., Lopes, M.C., 1999. Larginine transport in retinas from streptozotocin diabetic rats: correlation with the level of IL-1ß and NO synthase activity. Vision Res. 39, 3817–3823.
- Casaccia-Bonnefil, P., Gu, C., Chao, M.V., 1999. Neurotrophins in cell survival/death decisions. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 468, 275–282.
- Caspi, R.R., Roberge, F.G., 1989. Glial cells as suppressor cells: characterization of the inhibitory function. J. Autoimmun. 2, 709–722.
- Chang, G.Q., Hao, Y., Wong, F., 1993. Apoptosis: final common pathway of photoreceptor death in rd, rds, and rhodopsin mutant mice. Neuron 11, 595–605.
- Chao, T.I., Henke, A., Reichelt, W., Eberhardt, W., Reinhardt-Maelicke, S., Reichenbach, A., 1994. Three distinct types of voltage-dependent K⁺ channels are expressed by Müller (glial) cells of the rabbit retina. Pflügers Arch 426, 51–60.
- Chen, H., Weber, A.J., 2002. Expression of glial fibrillary acidic protein and glutamine synthetase by Muller cells after optic nerve damage and intravitreal application of brain-derived neurotrophic factor. Glia 38, 115–125.
- Chisholm, I.A., McClure, E., Foulds, W.S., 1975. Functional recovery of the retina after retinal detachment. Trans. Ophthalmol. Soc. UK 95, 167–172.
- Chong, N.H., Alexander, R.A., Waters, L., Barnett, K.C., Bird, A.C., Luthert, P.J., 1999. Repeated injections of a ciliary neurotrophic factor analogue leading to long-term photoreceptor survival in hereditary retinal degeneration. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 40, 1298–1305.
- Chu, Y., Humphrey, M.F., Alder, V.V., Constable, I.J., 1998. Immunocytochemical localization of basic fibroblast growth factor and glial fibrillary acidic protein after laser photocoagulation in the Royal College of Surgeons rat. Aust. N. Z. J. Ophthalmol. 26, 87–96.
- Chu, Y., Alder, V.A., Humphrey, M.F., Constable, I.J., 1999. Localization of IgG in the normal and dystrophic rat retina after laser lesions. Aust. N. Z. J. Ophthalmol. 27, 117–125.

- Coblentz, F.E., Radeke, M.J., Lewis, G.P., Fisher, S.K., 2003. Evidence that ganglion cells react to retinal detachment. Exp. Eye Res. 76, 333–342.
- Connors, N.C., Kofuji, P., 2002. Dystrophin Dp71 is critical for the clustered localization of potassium channels in retinal glial cells. J. Neurosci. 22, 4321–4327.
- Cook, B., Lewis, G.P., Fisher, S.K., Adler, R., 1995. Apoptotic photoreceptor degeneration in experimental retinal detachment. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 36, 990–996.
- Da, T., Verkman, A.S., 2004. Aquaporin-4 gene disruption in mice protects against impaired retinal function and cell death after ischemia. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 45, 4477–4483.
- Dalloz, C., Sarig, R., Fort, P., Yaffe, D., Bordais, A., Pannicke, T., Grosche, J., Mornet, D., Reichenbach, A., Sahel, J., Nudel, U., Rendon, A., 2003. Targeted inactivation of dystrophin gene product Dp71: phenotypic impact in mouse retina. Hum. Mol. Genet. 12, 1543–1554.
- D'Amore, P.A., 1994. Mechanisms of retinal and choroidal neovascularization. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 35, 3974–3979.
- Das, S.R., Bhardwaj, N., Kjedbye, H., Gouras, P., 1992. Müller cells of chicken retina synthesize 11-cis-retinol. Biochem. J. 285, 907–913.
- De Jong, P.T., Zrenner, E., van Meel, G.J., Keunen, J.E., van Norren, D., 1991. Mizuo phenomenon in X-linked retinoschisis. Pathogenesis of the Mizuo phenomenon. Arch. Ophthalmol. 109, 1104–1108.
- Deitmer, J.W., 2002. A role for CO_2 and bicarbonate transporters in metabolic exchanges in the brain. J. Neurochem. 80, 721–726.
- Derouiche, A., Rauen, T., 1995. Coincidence of L-glutamate/L-aspartate transporter (GLAST) and glutamine synthetase (GS) immunoreactions in retinal glia: evidence for coupling of GLAST and GS in transmitter clearance. J. Neurosci. Res. 42, 131–143.
- Di Polo, A., Aigner, L.J., Dunn, R.J., Bray, G.M., Aguayo, A.J., 1998. Prolonged delivery of brain-derived neurotrophic factor by adenovirus-infected Muller cells temporarily rescues injured retinal ganglion cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95, 3978–3983.
- Drescher, K.M., Whittum-Hudson, J.A., 1996. Herpes simplex virus type 1 alters transcript levels of tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-6 in retinal glial cells. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 37, 2302–2312.
- Dreyer, E.B., Zurakowski, D., Schumer, R.A., Podos, S.M., Lipton, S.A., 1996. Elevated glutamate levels in the vitreous body of humans and monkeys with glaucoma. Arch. Ophthalmol. 114, 299–305.
- Du, Y., Sarthy, V.P., Kern, T.S., 2004. Interaction between NO and CO_X pathways in retinal cells exposed to elevated glucose and retina of diabetic rats. Am. J. Physiol. 287, R735–R741.
- Dubois-Dauphin, M., Poitry-Yamate, C., de Bilbao, F., Julliard, A.K., Jourdan, F., Donati, G., 2000. Early postnatal Muller cell death leads to retinal but not optic nerve degeneration in NSE-Hu-Bcl-2 transgenic mice. Neuroscience 95, 9–21.
- Duh, E.J., Yang, H.S., Suzuma, I., Miyagi, M., Youngman, E., Mori, K., Katai, M., Yan, L., Suzuma, K., West, K., Davarya, S., Tong, P., Gehlbach, P., Pearlman, J., Crabb, J.W., Aiello, L.P., Campochiaro, P.A., Zack, D.J., 2002. Pigment epithelium-derived factor suppresses ischemia-induced retinal neovascularization and VEGF-induced migration and growth. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 43, 821–829.
- Ehinger, B., 1977. Glial and neuronal uptake of GABA, glutamic acid, glutamine and glutathione in the rabbit retina. Exp. Eye Res. 25, 221–234.
- Eichler, W., Kuhrt, H., Hoffmann, S., Wiedemann, P., Reichenbach, A., 2000. VEGF release by retinal glia depends on both oxygen and glucose supply. Neuroreport 11, 3533–3537.
- Eichler, W., Yafai, Y., Keller, T., Wiedemann, P., Reichenbach, A., 2004a. PEDF derived from glial Muller cells: a possible regulator of retinal angiogenesis. Exp. Cell Res. 299, 68–78.
- Eichler, W., Yafai, Y., Wiedemann, P., Reichenbach, A., 2004b. Angiogenesis-related factors derived from retinal glial (Muller) cells in hypoxia. Neuroreport 15, 1633–1637.
- Eisenfeld, A.J., Bunt-Milam, A.H., Sarthy, P.V., 1984. Müller cell expression of glial fibrillary acidic protein after genetic and experimental

photoreceptor degeneration in the rat retina. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 25, 1321–1328.

- Erickson, P.A., Fisher, S.K., Anderson, D.H., Stern, W.H., Borgula, G.A., 1983. Retinal detachment in the cat: the outer nuclear and outer plexiform layers. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 24, 927–942.
- Erickson, P.A., Fisher, S.K., Guerin, C.J., Anderson, D.H., Kaska, D.D., 1987. Glial fibrillary acidic protein increases in Muller cells after retinal detachment. Exp. Eye Res. 44, 37–48.
- Erickson, P.A., Guerin, C.J., Fisher, S.K., 1990. Tritiated uridine labeling of the retina: changes after retinal detachment. Exp. Eye Res. 51, 153–158.
- Faktorovich, E.G., Steinberg, R.H., Yasumura, D., Matthes, M.T., LaVail, M.M., 1990. Photoreceptor degeneration in inherited retinal dystrophy delayed by basic fibroblast growth factor. Nature 347, 83–86.
- Faude, F., Francke, M., Makarov, F., Schuck, J., Gärtner, U., Reichelt, W., Wiedemann, P., Wolburg, H., Reichenbach, A., 2001. Experimental retinal detachment causes widespread and multilayered degeneration in rabbit retina. J. Neurocytol. 30, 379–390.
- Fawcett, J.W., Asher, R.A., 1999. The glial scar and central nervous system repair. Brain Res. Bull. 49, 377–391.
- Felmy, F., Pannicke, T., Richt, J.A., Reichenbach, A., Guenther, E., 2001. Electrophysiological properties of rat retinal Müller (glial) cells in postnatally developing and in pathologically altered retinae. Glia 34, 190–199.
- Fine, B.S., Brucker, A.J., 1981. Macular edema and cystoid macular edema. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 92, 466–481.
- Fischer, A.J., Reh, T.A., 2001. Müller glia are a potential source of neural regeneration in the postnatal chicken retina. Nat. Neurosci. 4, 247–252.
- Fisher, S.K., Anderson, D.H., 1994. Cellular effects of detachment on the neural retina and the retinal pigment epithelium. In: Glaser, B., Ryan, S.J. (Eds.), Retina. Surgical Retina, vol. 3. Mosby-Year Book Inc., St. Louis, pp. 2035–2061.
- Fisher, S.K., Lewis, G.P., 2003. Müller cell and neuronal remodeling in retinal detachment and reattachment and their potential consequences for visual recovery: a review and reconsideration of recent data. Vision Res. 43, 887–897.
- Fisher, S.K., Erickson, P.A., Lewis, G.P., Anderson, D.H., 1991. Intraretinal proliferation induced by retinal detachment. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 32, 1739–1748.
- Fletcher, E.L., Kalloniatis, M., 1996. Neurochemical architecture of the normal and degenerating rat retina. J. Comput. Neurol. 376, 343–360.
- Fletcher, E.L., Phipps, J.A., Wilkinson-Berka, J.L., 2005. Dysfunction of retinal neurons and glia during diabetes. Clin. Exp. Optom. 88, 132–145.
- Francke, M., Pannicke, T., Biedermann, B., Faude, F., Reichelt, W., 1996. Sodium current amplitude increases dramatically in human retinal glial cells during diseases of the eye. Eur. J. Neurosci. 8, 2662–2670.
- Francke, M., Pannicke, T., Biedermann, B., Faude, F., Wiedemann, P., Reichenbach, A., Reichelt, W., 1997. Loss of inwardly rectifying potassium currents by human retinal glial cells in diseases of the eye. Glia 20, 210–218.
- Francke, M., Makarov, F., Kacza, J., Wendt, S., Gärtner, U., Faude, F., Wiedemann, P., Reichenbach, A., 2001a. Retinal pigment epithelium melanin granules are phagocytozed by Müller glial cells in experimental retinal detachment. J. Neurocytol. 30, 131–136.
- Francke, M., Faude, F., Pannicke, T., Bringmann, A., Eckstein, P., Reichelt, W., Wiedemann, P., Reichenbach, A., 2001b. Electrophysiology of rabbit Müller (glial) cells in experimental retinal detachment and PVR. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 42, 1072–1079.
- Francke, M., Weick, M., Pannicke, T., Uckermann, O., Grosche, J., Goczalik, I., Milenkovic, I., Uhlmann, S., Faude, F., Wiedemann, P., Reichenbach, A., Bringmann, A., 2002. Upregulation of extracellular ATP-induced Muller cell responses in a dispase model of proliferative vitreoretinopathy. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 43, 870–881.

- Francke, M., Goczalik, I.M., Schwarze, D., Raap, M., Reichenbach, A., 2003. Neuronal glutathione supply by Müller cells during oxidative stress. Glia (Suppl.) 2, 72.
- Francke, M., Faude, F., Pannicke, T., Uckermann, O., Weick, M., Wolburg, H., Wiedemann, P., Reichenbach, A., Uhlmann, S., Bringmann, A., 2005. Glial cell-mediated spread of retinal degeneration during detachment: a hypothesis based upon studies in rabbits. Vision Res. 45, 2256–2267.
- Frasson, M., Picaud, S., Leveillard, T., Simonutti, M., Mohand-Said, S., Dreyfus, H., Hicks, D., Sahel, J., 1999. Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor induces histologic and functional protection of rod photoreceptors in the rd/rd mouse. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 40, 2724–2734.
- Gadea, A., Lopez, E., Hernandez-Cruz, A., Lopez-Colome, A.M., 2002. Role of Ca²⁺ and calmodulin-dependent enzymes in the regulation of glycine transport in Müller glia. J. Neurochem. 80, 634–645.
- Garner, C.D., Lee, E.W., Louis-Ferdinand, R.T., 1995. Müller cell involvement in methanol-induced retinal toxicity. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 130, 101–107.
- Gass, J.D.M., 1999. Müller cell cone, an overlooked part of the anatomy of the fovea centralis. Hypotheses concerning its role in the pathogenesis of macular hole and foveamacular retinoschisis. Arch. Ophthalmol. 117, 821–823.
- Geller, S.F., Lewis, G.P., Anderson, D.H., Fisher, S.K., 1995. Use of the MIB-1 antibody for detecting proliferating cells in the retina. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 36, 737–744.
- Geller, S.F., Lewis, G.P., Fisher, S.K., 2001. FGFR1, signaling, and AP-1 expression after retinal detachment: reactive Müller and RPE cells. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 42, 1363–1369.
- Gerhardinger, C., Costa, M.B., Coulombe, M.C., Toth, I., Hoehn, T., Grosu, P., 2005. Expression of acute-phase response proteins in retinal Muller cells in diabetes. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 46, 349–357.
- Germer, A., Jahnke, C., Mack, A., Enzmann, V., Reichenbach, A., 1997. Modification of glutamine synthetase expression by mammalian Müller (glial) cells in retinal organ cultures. Neuroreport 8, 3067–3072.
- Germer, A., Biedermann, B., Schousboe, A., Wolburg, H., Mack, A., Reichenbach, A., 1998a. Distribution of mitochondria within Müller cells. I. Correlation with retinal vascularization in different mammalian species. J. Neurocytol. 27, 329–345.
- Germer, A., Wolburg, H., Mack, A., Reichenbach, A., 1998b. Distribution of mitochondria within Müller cells. II. Post-natal development of the rabbit retinal periphery in vivo and in vitro: dependence on oxygen supply. J. Neurocytol. 27, 347–359.
- Giebel, S.J., Menicucci, G., McGuire, P.G., Das, A., 2005. Matrix metalloproteinases in early diabetic retinopathy and their role in alteration of the blood–retinal barrier. Lab. Invest. 85, 597–607.
- Gohdo, T., Ueda, H., Ohno, S., Iijima, H., Tsukahara, S., 2001. Heat shock protein 70 expression increased in rabbit Müller cells in the ischemia-reperfusion model. Ophthalmic Res. 33, 298–302.
- González, M.I., Lopez-Colomé, A.M., Ortega, A., 1999. Sodiumdependent glutamate transport in Muller glial cells: regulation by phorbol esters. Brain Res. 831, 140–145.
- Goureau, O., Hicks, D., Courtois, Y., De Kozak, Y., 1994. Induction and regulation of nitric oxide synthase in retinal Müller glial cells. J. Neurochem. 63, 310–317.
- Goureau, O., Regnier-Ricard, F., Courtois, Y., 1999. Requirement for nitric oxide in retinal neuronal cell death induced by activated Muller glial cells. J. Neurochem. 72, 2506–2515.
- Grayson, C., Reid, S.N., Ellis, J.A., Rutherford, A., Sowden, J.C., Yates, J.R., Farber, D.B., Trump, D., 2000. Retinoschisin, the X-linked retinoschisis protein, is a secreted photoreceptor protein, and is expressed and released by Weri-Rb1 cells. Hum. Mol. Genet. 9, 1873–1879.
- Grosche, J., Härtig, W., Reichenbach, A., 1995. Expression of glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), glutamine synthetase (GS), and Bcl-2 protooncogene protein by Muller (glial) cells in retinal light damage of rats. Neurosci. Lett. 185, 119–122.

- Guidry, C., 2005. The role of Muller cells in fibrocontractive retinal disorders. Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 24, 75–86.
- Hammes, H.P., Federoff, H.J., Brownlee, M., 1995. Nerve growth factor prevents both neuroretinal programmed cell death and capillary pathology in experimental diabetes. Mol. Med. 1, 527–534.
- Hammes, H.P., Alt, A., Niwa, T., Clausen, J.T., Bretzel, R.G., Brownlee, M., Schleicher, E.D., 1999. Differential accumulation of advanced glycation end products in the course of diabetic retinopathy. Diabetologia 42, 728–736.
- Harada, T., Harada, C., Watanabe, M., Inoue, Y., Sakagawa, T., Nakayama, N., Sasaki, S., Okuyama, S., Watase, K., Wada, K., Tanaka, K., 1998. Functions of the two glutamate transporters GLAST and GLT-1 in the retina. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95, 4663–4666.
- Harada, T., Harada, C., Nakayama, N., Okuyama, S., Yoshida, K., Kohsaka, S., Matsuda, H., Wada, K., 2000. Modification of glialneuronal cell interactions prevents photoreceptor apoptosis during light-induced retinal degeneration. Neuron 26, 533–541.
- Harada, T., Harada, C., Kohsaka, S., Wada, E., Yoshida, K., Ohno, S., Mamada, H., Tanaka, K., Parada, L.F., Wada, K., 2002. Microglia-Müller glia cell interactions control neurotrophic factor production during light-induced retinal degeneration. J. Neurosci. 22, 9228–9236.
- Hirata, C., Nakano, K., Nakamura, N., Kitagawa, Y., Shigeta, H., Hasegawa, G., Ogata, M., Ikeda, T., Sawa, H., Nakamura, K., Ienaga, K., Obayashi, H., Kondo, M., 1997. Advanced glycation end products induce expression of vascular endothelial growth factor by retinal Muller cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 236, 712–715.
- Honjo, M., Tanihara, H., Kido, N., Inatani, M., Okazaki, K., Honda, Y., 2000. Expression of ciliary neurotrophic factor activated by retinal Muller cells in eyes with NMDA- and kainic acid-induced neuronal death. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 41, 552–560.
- Huster, D., Reichenbach, A., Reichelt, W., 2000. The glutathione content of retinal Muller (glial) cells: effect of pathological conditions. Neurochem. Int. 36, 461–469.
- Iandiev, I., Uhlmann, S., Pietsch, U.-C., Biedermann, B., Reichenbach, A., Wiedemann, P., Bringmann, A., 2005. Endothelin receptors in the detached retina of the pig. Neurosci. Lett. 384, 72–75.
- Iandiev, I., Uckermann, O., Pannicke, T., Wurm, A., Tenckhoff, S., Pietsch, U.-C., Reichenbach, A., Wiedemann, P., Bringmann, A., Uhlmann, S., 2006a. Glial cell reactivity in a porcine model of retinal detachment. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 47, 2161–2171.
- Iandiev, I., Tenckhoff, S., Pannicke, T., Biedermann, B., Hollborn, M., Wiedemann, P., Reichenbach, A., Bringmann, A., 2006b. Differential regulation of Kir4.1 and Kir2.1 expression in the ischemic rat retina. Neurosci. Lett. 396, 97–101.
- Ieb, O.S., 1971. Experimental studies on influence of ammonia solution on rabbit retina. II. Electron microscopic findings. Acta Soc. Ophthalmol. Jpn. 75, 349–365.
- Igarashi, Y., Chiba, H., Utsumi, H., Miyajima, H., Ishizaki, T., Gotoh, T., Kuwahara, K., Tobioka, H., Satoh, M., Mori, M., Sawada, N., 2000. Expression of receptors for glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) and neurturin in the inner blood-retinal barrier of rats. Cell Struct. Funct. 25, 237–241.
- Ikeda, T., Homma, Y., Nisida, K., Hirase, K., Sotozono, C., Kinoshita, S., Puro, D.G., 1998. Expression of transforming growth factor- β s and their receptors by human retinal glial cells. Curr. Eye Res. 17, 546–550.
- Isenmann, S., Klöcker, N., Gravel, C., Bähr, M., 1998. Protection of axotomized retinal ganglion cells by adenovirally delivered BDNF in vivo. Eur. J. Neurosci. 10, 2751–2756.
- Ishii, M., Horio, Y., Tada, Y., Hibino, H., Inanobe, A., Ito, M., Yamada, M., Gotow, T., Uchiyama, Y., Kurachi, Y., 1997. Expression and clustered distribution of an inwardly rectifying potassium channel, K_{AB}-2/Kir4.1, on mammalian retinal Müller cell membrane: their regulation by insulin and laminin signals. J. Neurosci. 17, 7725–7735.
- Izumi, Y., Kirby, C.O., Benz, A.M., Olney, J.W., Zorumski, C.F., 1999. Müller cell swelling, glutamate uptake, and excitotoxic neurodegeneration in the isolated rat retina. Glia 25, 379–389.

- Jackson, T.L., Hillenkamp, J., Williamson, T.H., Clarke, K.W., Almubarak, A.I., Marshall, J., 2003. An experimental model of rhegmatogenous retinal detachment: surgical results and glial cell response. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 44, 4026–4034.
- Jingjing, L., Xue, Y., Agarwal, N., Roque, RS., 1999. Human Muller cells express VEGF183, a novel spliced variant of vascular endothelial growth factor. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 40, 752–759.
- Johnson, J., Chen, T.K., Rickman, D.W., Evans, C., Brecha, N.C., 1996. Multiple γ-aminobutyric acid plasma membrane transporters (GAT-1, GAT-2, GAT-3) in the rat retina. J. Comput. Neurol. 375, 212–224.
- Jonas, J.B., Kreissig, I., Sofker, A., Degenring, R.F., 2003. Intravitreal injection of trimacinolone for diffuse diabetic macular edema. Arch. Ophthalmol. 121, 57–61.
- Karwoski, C.J., Lu, H.K., Newman, EA., 1989. Spatial buffering of lightevoked potassium increases by retinal Müller (glial) cells. Science 244, 578–580.
- Kashii, S., Mandai, M., Kikuchi, M., Honda, Y., Tamura, Y., Kaneda, K., Akaike, A., 1996. Dual actions of nitric oxide in N-methyl-Daspartate receptor-mediated neurotoxicity in cultured retinal neurons. Brain Res. 711, 93–101.
- Kawasaki, A., Otori, Y., Barnstable, C.J., 2000. Muller cell protection of rat retinal ganglion cells from glutamate and nitric oxide neurotoxicity. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 41, 3444–3450.
- Kellner, U., Kraus, H., Heimann, H., Helbig, H., Bornfeld, N., Foerster, M.H., 1998. Electrophysiological evaluation of visual loss in Muller cell sheen dystrophy. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 82, 650–654.
- Kirsch, L.S., Brownstein, S., de Wolff-Rouendaal, D., 1996. A histopathological, ultrastructural and immunohistochemical study of congenital hereditary retinoschisis. Can. J. Ophthalmol. 31, 301–310.
- Kirsch, M., Lee, M.Y., Meyer, V., Wiese, A., Hofmann, H.D., 1997. Evidence for multiple, local functions of ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF) in retinal development: expression of CNTF and its receptors and in vitro effects on target cells. J. Neurochem. 68, 979–990.
- Kobayashi, N., Ishiguro, S., Tomita, H., Nishikawa, S., Tamai, M., 1999. Changes of GABA metabolic enzymes in acute retinal ischemia. Exp. Eye Res. 69, 91–96.
- Kodal, H., Weick, M., Moll, V., Biedermann, B., Reichenbach, A., Bringmann, A., 2000. Involvement of calcium-activated potassium channels in the regulation of DNA synthesis in cultured Müller glial cells. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 41, 4262–4267.
- Koeberle, P.D., Ball, A.K., 1999. Nitric oxide synthase inhibition delays axonal degeneration and promotes the survival of axotomized retinal ganglion cells. Exp. Neurol. 158, 366–381.
- Kofuji, P., Ceelen, P., Zahs, K.R., Surbeck, L.W., Lester, H.A., Newman, E.A., 2000. Genetic inactivation of an inwardly rectifying potassium channel (Kir4.1 subunit) in mice: phenotypic impact in retina. J. Neurosci. 20, 5733–5740.
- Kofuji, P., Biedermann, B., Siddharthan, V., Raap, M., Iandiev, I., Milenkovic, I., Thomzig, A., Veh, R.W., Bringmann, A., Reichenbach, A., 2002. Kir potassium channel subunit expression in retinal glial cells: implications for spatial potassium buffering. Glia 39, 292–303.
- Kowluru, R.A., Kennedy, A., 2001. Therapeutic potential of anti-oxidants and diabetic retinopathy. Expert. Opin. Invest. Drugs 10, 1665–1676.
- Kubo, Y., Baldwin, T.J., Jan, Y.N., Jan, L.Y., 1993. Primary structure and functional expression of a mouse inward rectifier potassium channel. Nature 362, 127–133.
- Kusaka, S., Puro, D.G., 1997. Intracellular ATP activates inwardly rectifying K⁺ channels in human and monkey retinal Müller (glial) cells. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 500, 593–604.
- Kuwabara, T., Cogan, D.G., 1961. Retinal glycogen. Arch. Ophthalmol. 66, 94–104.
- Lam, T.T., Kwong, J.M., Tso, M.O., 2003. Early glial responses after acute elevated intraocular pressure in rats. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 44, 638–645.
- Lamoreaux, W.J., Fitzgerald, M.E., Reiner, A., Hasty, K.A., Charles, S.T., 1998. Vascular endothelial growth factor increases release of

gelatinase A and decreases release of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases by microvascular endothelial cells in vitro. Microvasc. Res. 55, 29–42.

- Laqua, H., Machemer, R., 1975. Glial cell proliferation in retinal detachment (massive periretinal proliferation). Am. J. Ophthalmol. 80, 602–618.
- Larsen, M., Wang, M., Sander, B., 2005. Overnight thickness variation in diabetic macular edema. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 46, 2313–2316.
- LaVail, M.M., Unoki, K., Yasumura, D., Matthes, M.T., Yancopoulos, G.D., Steinberg, R.H., 1992. Multiple growth factors, cytokines, and neurotrophins rescue photoreceptors from the damaging effects of constant light. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89, 11249–11253.
- Lewis, G.P., Fisher, S.K., 2000. Muller cell outgrowth after retinal detachment: association with cone photoreceptors. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 41, 1542–1545.
- Lewis, G.P., Erickson, P.A., Guerin, C.J., Anderson, D.H., Fisher, S.K., 1989. Changes in the expression of specific Müller cell proteins during long-term retinal detachment. Exp. Eye Res. 49, 93–111.
- Lewis, G.P., Erickson, P.A., Guerin, C.J., Anderson, D.H., Fisher, S.K., 1992. Basic fibroblast growth factor: a potential regulator of proliferation and intermediate filament expression in the retina. J. Neurosci. 12, 3968–3978.
- Lewis, G.P., Guerin, C.J., Anderson, D.H., Matsumoto, B., Fisher, S.K., 1994. Rapid changes in the expression of glial cell proteins caused by experimental retinal detachment. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 118, 368–376.
- Lewis, G.P., Matsumoto, B., Fisher, S.K., 1995. Changes in the organization and expression of cytoskeletal proteins during retinal degeneration induced by retinal detachment. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 36, 2404–2416.
- Lewis, G.P., Linberg, K.A., Fisher, S.K., 1998. Neurite outgrowth from bipolar and horizontal cells after experimental retinal detachment. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 39, 424–434.
- Lewis, G.P., Mervin, K., Valter, K., Maslim, J., Kappel, P.J., Stone, J., Fisher, S., 1999. Limiting the proliferation and reactivity of retinal Müller cells during experimental retinal detachment: the value of oxygen supplementation. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 128, 165–172.
- Lewis, G.P., Sethi, C.S., Carter, K.M., Charteris, D.G., Fisher, S.K., 2005. Microglial cell activation following retinal detachment: a comparison between species. Mol. Vis. 11, 491–500.
- Li, Q., Puro, D.G., 2002. Diabetes-induced dysfunction of the glutamate transporter in retinal Müller cells. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 43, 3109–3116.
- Li, J., Patil, R.V., Verkman, A.S., 2002. Mildly abnormal retinal function in transgenic mice without Muller cell aquaporin-4 water channels. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 43, 573–579.
- Lieth, E., Barber, A., Xu, B., Dice, C., Ratz, M.J., Tanase, D., Strother, J.M., 1998. Glial reactivity and impaired glutamate metabolism in short-term experimental diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes 47, 815–820.
- Limb, G.A., Lawrence, J.M., Keegan, D.J., Reh, T.A., Coffey, P.J., Luthert, P.J., Khaw, P.T., 2004. Müller glial cells from adult human retina exhibit neural stem cell characteristics and prevent loss of visual function and retinal degeneration in the RCS rat. Ann. ARVO Meet. Abstr. 5387.
- Limb, G.A., Lawrence, J.M., Reh, T.A., Khaw, P.T., 2005. Localization of Müller glia with neural stem cell characteristics in the adult human retina. Ann. ARVO Meet. Abstr. 3231.
- Lin, R.Y., Vera, J.C., Chaganti, R.S., Golde, D.W., 1998. Human monocarboxylate transporter 2 (MCT2) is a high affinity pyruvate transporter. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 28959–28965.
- Linsenmeier, R.A., Padnick-Silver, L., 2000. Metabolic dependence of photoreceptors on the choroid in the normal and detached retina. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 41, 3117–3123.
- Linser, P.J., Moscona, A.A., 1979. Induction of glutamine synthetase in embryonic neural retina: localization of Müller fibers and dependence on cell interactions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 76, 6476–6480.
- Linser, P.J., Moscona, A.A., 1983. Hormonal induction of glutamine synthetase in cultures of embryonic retina cells: requirement for neuron–glia contact interactions. Dev. Biol. 96, 529–534.

- Liu, C., Peng, M., Laties, A.M., Wen, R., 1998. Preconditioning with bright light evokes a protective response against light damage in the rat retina. J. Neurosci. 18, 1337–1344.
- Lobo, C.L., Bernardes, R.C., Cunha-Vaz, J.G., 2000. Alterations of the blood-retinal barrier and retinal thickness in preclinical retinopathy in subjects with type 2 diabetes. Arch. Ophthalmol. 118, 1364–1369.
- Lopez-Colome, A.M., Ortega, A., Romo-de-Vivar, M., 1993. Excitatory amino acid-induced phosphoinositide hydrolysis in Muller glia. Glia 9, 127–135.
- Lundkvist, A., Reichenbach, A., Betsholtz, C., Carmeliet, P., Wolburg, H., Pekny, M., 2004. Under stress, the absence of intermediate filaments from Müller cells in the retina has structural and functional consequences. J. Cell Sci. 117, 3481–3488.
- MacGregor, L.C., Matschinsky, F.M., 1986. Altered retinal metabolism in diabetes. II: measurement of sodium–potassium ATPase and total sodium and potassium in individual retinal layers. J. Biol. Chem. 261, 4052–4058.
- Machemer, R., 1968. Experimental retinal detachment in the owl monkey. IV. The reattached retina. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 66, 1075–1091.
- Majka, S., McGuire, P.G., Das, A., 2002. Regulation of matrix metalloproteinase expression by tumor necrosis factor in a murine model of retinal neovascularization. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 43, 260–266.
- Manley, G.T., Binder, D.K., Papadopoulos, M.C., Verkman, A.S., 2004. New insights into water transport and edema in the central nervous system from phenotype analysis of aquaporin-4 null mice. Neuroscience 129, 983–991.
- Mano, T., Puro, D.G., 1990. Phagocytosis by human retinal glial cells in culture. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 31, 1047–1055.
- Marc, R.E., Murry, R.F., Fisher, S.K., Linberg, K.A., Lewis, G.P., 1998. Amino acid signatures in the detached cat retina. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 39, 1694–1702.
- Marmor, M.F., 1999. Mechanisms of fluid accumulation in retinal edema. Doc. Ophthalmol. 97, 239–249.
- Martidis, A., Duker, J.S., Greenberg, P.B., Rogers, A.H., Puliafito, C.A., Reichel, E., Baumal, C., 2002. Intravitreal triamcinolone for refractory diabetic macular edema. Ophthalmology 109, 920–927.
- Matsuda, S., Gomi, F., Oshima, Y., Tohyama, M., Tano, Y., 2005. Vascular Endothelial growth factor reduced and connective tissue growth factor induced by triamcinolone in ARPE19 Cells under oxidative STRESS. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 46, 1062–1068.
- Matsui, K., Hosoi, N., Tachibana, M., 1999. Active role of glutamate uptake in the synaptic transmission from retinal nonspiking neurons. J. Neurosci. 19, 6755–6766.
- Maw, M.A., Kennedy, B., Knight, A., Bridges, R., Roth, K.E., Mani, E.J., Mukkadan, J.K., Nancarrow, D., Crabb, J.W., Denton, M.J., 1997. Mutation of the gene encoding cellular retinaldehyde-binding protein in autosomal recessive retinitis pigmentosa. Nat. Genet. 17, 198–200.
- Mervin, K., Valter, K., Maslim, J., Lewis, G.P., Fisher, S.K., Stone, J., 1999. Limiting photoreceptor death and deconstruction during experimental retinal detachment: the value of oxygen supplementation. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 128, 155–164.
- Mignatti, P., Tsuboi, R., Robbins, E., Rifkin, D.P., 1989. In vitro angiogenesis on the human amniotic membrane: requirement for basic fibroblast growth factor-induced proteinases. J. Cell Biol. 108, 671–682.
- Milenkovic, I., Weick, M., Wiedemann, P., Reichenbach, A., Bringmann, A., 2003. P2Y receptor-mediated stimulation of Muller glial cell DNA synthesis: dependence on EGF and PDGF receptor transactivation. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 44, 1211–1220.
- Miller, J.W., Adamis, A.P., Shima, D.T., D'Amore, P.A., Moulton, R.S., O'Reilly, M.S., Folkman, J., Dvorak, H.F., Brown, L.F., Berse, B., et al., 1994. Vascular endothelial growth factor/vascular permeability factor is temporally and spatially correlated with ocular angiogenesis in a primate model. Am. J. Pathol. 145, 574–584.
- Mizutani, M., Gerhardinger, C., Lorenzi, M., 1998. Müller cell changes in human diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes 47, 445–449.

- Moll, V., Weick, M., Milenkovic, I., Kodal, H., Reichenbach, A., Bringmann, A., 2002. P2Y receptor-mediated stimulation of Müller glial DNA synthesis. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 43, 766–773.
- Mooy, C.M., Van Den Born, L.I., Baarsma, S., Paridaens, D.A., Kraaijenbrink, T., Bergen, A., Weber, B.H., 2002. Hereditary X-linked juvenile retinoschisis: a review of the role of Muller cells. Arch. Ophthalmol. 120, 979–984.
- Mori, F., Hikichi, T., Takahashi, J., Nagaoka, T., Yoshida, A., 2002. Dysfunction of active transport of blood-retinal barrier in patients with clinically significant macular edema in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 25, 1248–1249.
- Nagelhus, E.A., Veruki, M.L., Torp, R., Haug, F.M., Laake, J.H., Nielsen, S., Agre, P., Ottersen, O.P., 1998. Aquaporin-4 water channel protein in the rat retina and optic nerve: polarized expression in Müller cells and fibrous astrocytes. J. Neurosci. 18, 2506–2519.
- Nagelhus, E.A., Horio, Y., Inanobe, A., Fujita, A., Haug, F.M., Nielsen, S., Kurachi, Y., Ottersen, O.P., 1999. Immunogold evidence suggests that coupling of K⁺ siphoning and water transport in rat retinal Müller cells is mediated by a coenrichment of Kir4.1 and AQP4 in specific membrane domains. Glia 26, 47–54.
- Napper, G.A., Pianta, M.J., Kalloniatis, M., 1999. Reduced glutamate uptake by retinal glial cells under ischemic/hypoxic conditions. Vis. Neurosci. 16, 149–158.
- Newman, E.A., 1985. Membrane physiology of retinal glial (Müller) cells. J. Neurosci. 5, 2225–2239.
- Newman, E.A., 1989. Potassium conductance block by barium in amphibian Müller cells. Brain Res. 498, 308–314.
- Newman, E.A., 1993. Inward-rectifying potassium channels in retinal glial (Müller) cells. J. Neurosci. 13, 3333–3345.
- Newman, E.A., 1994. A physiological measure of carbonic anhydrase in Müller cells. Glia 11, 291–299.
- Newman, E.A., 1996. Acid efflux from retinal glial cells generated by sodium bicarbonate cotransport. J. Neurosci. 16, 159–168.
- Newman, E.A., 2003. Glial cell inhibition of neurons by release of ATP. J. Neurosci. 23, 1659–1666.
- Newman, E.A., 2004. Glial modulation of synaptic transmission in the retina. Glia 47, 268–274.
- Newman, E.A., Reichenbach, A., 1996. The Müller cell: a functional element of the retina. Trends Neurosci 19, 307–317.
- Newman, E.A., Zahs, K.R., 1998. Modulation of neuronal activity by glial cells in the retina. J. Neurosci. 18, 4022–4028.
- Newman, E.A., Frambach, D.A., Odette, L.L., 1984. Control of extracellular potassium levels by retinal glial cell K⁺ siphoning. Science 225, 1174–1175.
- Nork, T.M., Wallow, I.H.L., Sramek, S.J., Anderson, G., 1987. Müller's cell involvement in proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Arch. Ophthalmol. 105, 1424–1429.
- Ogata, N., Wada, M., Otsuji, T., Jo, N., Tombran-Tink, J., Matsumura, M., 2002. Expression of pigment epithelium-derived factor in normal adult rat eye and experimental choroidal neovascularization. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 43, 1168–1175.
- Oku, H., Ikeda, T., Honma, Y., Sotozono, C., Nishida, K., Nakamura, Y., Kida, T., Kinoshita, S., 2002. Gene expression of neurotrophins and their high-affinity Trk receptors in cultured human Muller cells. Ophthalmic Res 34, 38–42.
- Ooto, S., Akagi, T., Kageyama, R., Akita, J., Mandai, M., Honda, Y., Takahashi, M., 2004. Potential for neural regeneration after neurotoxic injury in the adult mammalian retina. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 101, 13654–13659.
- Orkand, R.K., 1986. Glial-interstitial fluid exchange. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 481, 269–272.
- Osborne, N.N., Casson, R.J., Wood, J.P., Chidlow, G., Graham, M., Melena, J., 2004. Retinal ischemia: mechanisms of damage and potential therapeutic strategies. Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 23, 91–147.
- Otori, Y., Shimada, S., Tanaka, K., Ishimoto, I., Tano, Y., Tohyama, M., 1994. Marked increase in glutamate-aspartate transporter (GLAST/ GluT-1) mRNA following transient retinal ischemia. Mol. Brain Res. 27, 310–314.

- Ottlecz, A., Garcia, C.A., Eichberg, J., Fox, D.A., 1993. Alterations in retinal Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase in diabetes: streptozotocin-induced and Zucker diabetic fatty rats. Curr. Eye Res. 12, 1111–1121.
- Paasche, G., Huster, D., Reichenbach, A., 1998. The glutathione content of retinal Müller (glial) cells: the effects of aging and of application of free-radical scavengers. Ophthalmic Res. 30, 351–360.
- Pannicke, T., Fischer, W., Biedermann, B., Schädlich, H., Grosche, J., Faude, F., Wiedemann, P., Allgaier, C., Illes, P., Burnstock, G., Reichenbach, A., 2000a. P2X₇ receptors in Müller glial cells from the human retina. J. Neurosci. 20, 5965–5972.
- Pannicke, T., Faude, F., Reichenbach, A., Reichelt, W., 2000b. A function of delayed rectifier potassium channels in glial cells: maintenance of an auxiliary membrane potential under pathological conditions. Brain Res. 862, 187–193.
- Pannicke, T., Bringmann, A., Reichenbach, A., 2002. Electrophysiological characterization of retinal Müller glial cells from mouse during postnatal development: comparison with rabbit cells. Glia 38, 268–272.
- Pannicke, T., Iandiev, I., Uckermann, O., Biedermann, B., Kutzera, F., Wiedemann, P., Wolburg, H., Reichenbach, A., Bringmann, A., 2004. A potassium channel-linked mechanism of glial cell swelling in the postischemic retina. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 26, 493–502.
- Pannicke, T., Uckermann, O., Iandiev, I., Wiedemann, P., Reichenbach, A., Bringmann, A., 2005. Ocular inflammation alters swelling and membrane characteristics of rat Müller glial cells. J. Neuroimmunol. 161, 145–154.
- Pannicke, T., Iandiev, I., Wurm, A., Uckermann, O., vom Hagen, F., Reichenbach, A., Wiedemann, P., Hammes, H.-P., Bringmann, A., 2006. Diabetes alters osmotic swelling and membrane characteristics of glial cells in rat retina. Diabetes 55, 633–639.
- Paulson, O.B., Newman, E.A., 1987. Does the release of potassium from astrocyte endfeet regulate cerebral blood flow? Science 237, 896–898.
- Pederson, J.E., 1994. Fluid physiology of the subretinal space. In: Wilkinson, C.P. (Ed.), Retina. Mosby-Year Book Inc., St. Louis, pp. 1955–1968.
- Peek, R., Verbraak, F., Coevoet, H.M., Kijlstra, A., 1998. Muller cellspecific autoantibodies in a patient with progressive loss of vision. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 39, 1976–1979.
- Pfeiffer-Guglielmi, B., Francke, M., Reichenbach, A., Fleckenstein, B., Jung, G., Hamprecht, B., 2005. Glycogen phosphorylase isozyme pattern in mammalian retinal Müller (glial) cells and in astrocytes of retina and optic nerve. Glia 49, 84–95.
- Poitry, S., Poitry-Yamate, C., Ueberfeld, J., MacLeish, P.R., Tsacopoulos, M., 2000. Mechanisms of glutamate metabolic signaling in retinal glial (Muller) cells. J. Neurosci. 20, 1809–1821.
- Poitry-Yamate, C.L., Poitry, S., Tsacopoulos, M., 1995. Lactate released by Muller glial cells is metabolized by photoreceptors from mammalian retina. J. Neurosci. 15, 5179–5191.
- Portera-Cailliau, C., Sung, C.H., Nathans, J., Adler, R., 1994. Apoptotic photoreceptor cell death in mouse models of retinitis pigmentosa. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91, 974–978.
- Pow, D.V., Crook, D.K., 1995. Immunocytochemical evidence for the presence of high levels of reduced glutathione in radial glial cells and horizontal cells in the rabbit retina. Neurosci. Lett. 193, 25–28.
- Pow, D.V., Crook, D.K., 1996. Direct immunocytochemical evidence for the transfer of glutamine from glial cells to neurons: use of specific antibodies directed against the d-stereoisomers of glutamate and glutamine. Neuroscience 70, 295–302.
- Pow, D.V., Robinson, S.R., 1994. Glutamate in some retinal neurons is derived solely from glia. Neuroscience 60, 355–366.
- Puro, D.G., Roberge, F., Chan, C.-C., 1989. Retinal glial cell proliferation and ion channels: a possible link. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 30, 521–529.
- Qian, H., Malchow, R.P., Ripps, H., 1993. The effects of lowered extracellular sodium on gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA)-induced currents of Müller (glial) cells of the skate retina. Cell. Mol. Neurobiol. 13, 147–158.

- Raap, M., Biedermann, B., Braun, P., Milenkovic, I., Skatchkov, S.N., Bringmann, A., Reichenbach, A., 2002. Diversity of Kir channel subunit mRNA expressed by retinal glial cells of the guinea-pig. Neuroreport 13, 1037–1040.
- Rattner, A., Nathans, J., 2005. The genomic response to retinal diseases and injury: evidence for endothelin signaling from photoreceptors to glia. J. Neurosci. 25, 4540–4549.
- Rauen, T., Taylor, W.R., Kuhlbrodt, K., Wiessner, M., 1998. Highaffinity glutamate transporters in the rat retina: a major role of the glial glutamate transporter GLAST-1 in transmitter clearance. Cell Tissue Res. 291, 19–31.
- Reichelt, W., Pannicke, T., Biedermann, B., Francke, M., Faude, F., 1997a. Comparison between functional characteristics of healthy and pathological human retinal Müller glial cells. Surv. Ophthalmol. 42, S105–S117.
- Reichelt, W., Stabel-Burow, J., Pannicke, T., Weichert, H., Heinemann, U., 1997b. The glutathione level of retinal Muller glial cells is dependent on the high-affinity sodium-dependent uptake of glutamate. Neuroscience 77, 1213–1224.
- Reichenbach, A., Reichelt, W., 1986. Postnatal development of radial glial (Müller) cells of the rabbit retina. Neurosci. Lett. 71, 125–130.
- Reichenbach, A., Robinson, S.R., 1995a. Ependymoglia and ependymoglia-like cells. In: Ransom, B.R., Kettenmann, H. (Eds.), Neuroglia. Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp. 58–84.
- Reichenbach, A., Robinson, S.R., 1995b. Phylogenetic constraints on retinal organization and development: an Haeckelian perspective. Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 15, 39–171.
- Reichenbach, A., Henke, A., Eberhardt, W., Reichelt, W., Dettmer, D., 1992. K⁺ ion regulation in retina. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 70, S239–S247.
- Reichenbach, A., Stolzenburg, J.-U., Eberhardt, W., Chao, T.I., Dettmer, D., Hertz, L., 1993. What do retinal Müller (glial) cells do for their neuronal "small siblings"? J. Chem. Neuroanat. 6, 201–213.
- Reichenbach, A., Fuchs, U., Kasper, M., El-Hifnawi, E., Eckstein, A.-K., 1995a. Hepatic retinopathy: morphological features of retinal glial (Müller) cells accompanying hepatic failure. Acta Neuropathol. 90, 273–281.
- Reichenbach, A., Stolzenburg, J.-U., Wolburg, H., Härtig, W., El-Hifnawi, E., Martin, H., 1995b. Effects of enhanced extracellular ammonia concentration on cultured mammalian retinal glial (Müller) cells. Glia 13, 195–208.
- Reichenbach, A., Pálhalmi, J., Bringmann, A., Biedermann, B., Francke, M., Pannicke, T., Paasche, G., Germer, A., Kuhrt, H., Grosche, J., Härtig, W., Reichelt, W., Juhász, G., Skatchkov, S.N., Faude, F., 1999. Interactions between neurons and glial cells in the retina. Sém. Ophtalmol. d'IPSEN 10, 39–54.
- Reid, S.N., Farber, D.B., 2005. Glial transcytosis of a photoreceptorsecreted signaling protein, retinoschisin. Glia 49, 397–406.
- Reid, S.N., Yamashita, C., Farber, D.B., 2003. Retinoschisin, a photoreceptor-secreted protein, and its interaction with bipolar and muller cells. J. Neurosci. 23, 6030–6040.
- Roberge, F.G., Caspi, R.R., Chan, C.C., Nussenblatt, R.B., 1991. Inhibition of T lymphocyte proliferation by retinal glial Muller cells: reversal of inhibition by glucocorticoids. J. Autoimmun. 4, 307–314.
- Rosenthal, A.R., Appleton, B., 1975. Histochemical localization of intraocular copper foreign bodies. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 97, 613–619.
- Roth, S., 1997. Role of nitric oxide in retinal cell death. Clin. Neurosci. 4, 216–223.
- Rungger-Brändle, E., Dosso, A.A., Leuenberger, P.M., 2000. Glial reactivity, an early feature of diabetic retinopathy. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 41, 1971–1980.
- Sakai, H., Tani, Y., Shirasawa, E., Shirao, Y., Kawasaki, K., 1995. Development of electroretinographic alterations in streptozotocininduced diabetes in rats. Ophthalmic Res. 27, 57–63.
- Sakamoto, T., Ueno, H., Goto, Y., Oshima, Y., Ishibashi, T., Inomata, H., 1998. A vitrectomy improves the transfection efficiency of adenoviral vector-mediated gene transfer to Muller cells. Gene Ther. 5, 1088–1097.

- Sarthy, P.V., 1982. The uptake of [³H]γ-aminobutyric acid by isolated glial (Müller) cells from the mouse retina. J. Neurosci. Methods 5, 77–82.
- Sarthy, P.V., Lam, M.K.L., 1978. Biochemical studies of isolated glial (Müller) cells from the turtle retina. J. Cell Biol. 78, 675–684.
- Sarthy, V., Ripps, H., 2001. The retinal Müller Cell. Kluwer Academic/ Plenum Publishers, NewYork.
- Sarthy, V.P., Pignataro, L., Pannicke, T., Weick, M., Reichenbach, A., Harada, T., Tanaka, K., Marc, R., 2005. Glutamate transport by retinal Müller cells in glutamate/aspartate transporter-knockout mice. Glia 49, 184–196.
- Sasoh, M., Yoshida, S., Kuze, M., Uji, Y., 1997. The multifocal electroretinogram in retinal detachment. Adv. Ophthalmol. 94, 239–252.
- Satake, S., Kuzuya, M., Miura, H., Asai, T., Ramos, M.A., Muraguchi, M., Ohmoto, Y., Iguchi, A., 1998. Up-regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor in response to glucose deprivation. Biol. Cell 90, 161–168.
- Satoh, Y., 1989. Retinal circulation in rhegmatogenous retinal detachment demonstrated by videofluorescence angiography and image analysis. I. The condition of retinal circulation before retinal detachment surgery. Nippon Ganka Gakkai Zasshi 93, 1002–1008.
- Sauer, C.G., Gehring, A., Warneke-Wittstock, R., Marquardt, A., Ewing, C.C., Gibson, A., Lorenz, B., Jurklies, B., Weber, B.H.F., 1997. Positional cloning of the gene associated with X-linked juvenile retinoschisis. Nat. Genet. 17, 164–170.
- Schütte, M., Werner, P., 1998. Redistribution of glutathione in the ischemic rat retina. Neurosci. Lett. 246, 53–56.
- Sethi, C.S., Lewis, G.P., Fisher, S.K., Leitner, W.P., Mann, D.L., Luthert, P.J., Charteris, D.G., 2005. Glial remodeling and neural plasticity in human retinal detachment with proliferative vitreoretinopathy. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 46, 329–342.
- Sherry, D.M., Townes-Anderson, E., 2000. Rapid glutamatergic alterations in the neural retina induced by retinal detachment. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 41, 2779–2790.
- Silver, I.A., Deas, J., Erecinska, M., 1997. Ion homeostasis in brain cells: Differences in intracellular ion responses to energy limitation between cultured neurons and glial cells. Neuroscience 78, 589–601.
- Silverman, M.S., Hughes, S.E., 1990. Photoreceptor rescue in the RCS rat without pigment epithelium transplantation. Curr. Eye Res. 9, 183–191.
- Skatchkov, S.N., Eaton, M.J., Shuba, Y.M., Kucheryavykh, Y.V., Derst, C., Veh, R.W., Wurm, A., Iandiev, I., Pannicke, T., Bringmann, A., Reichenbach, A., 2006. Tandem-pore domain potassium channels are functionally expressed in retinal (Müller) glial cells. Glia 53, 266–276.
- Sonnewald, U., Westergaard, N., Schousboe, A., 1997. Glutamate transport and metabolism in astrocytes. Glia 21, 56–63.
- Stefansson, E., Wilson, C.A., Schoen, T., Kuwabara, T., 1988. Experimental ischemia induces cell mitosis in the adult rat retina. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 29, 1050–1055.
- Steinberg, R.H., Oakley, B.II., Niemeyer, G., 1980. Light-evoked changes in [K⁺]₀ in retina of intact cat eye. J. Neurophysiol. 44, 897–921.
- Stevens, E.R., Esguerra, M., Kim, P.M., Newman, E.A., Snyder, S.H., Zahs, K.R., Miller, R.F., 2003. D-serine and serine racemase are present in the vertebrate retina and contribute to the physiological activation of NMDA receptors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100, 6789–6794.
- Stier, H., Schlosshauer, B., 1998. Different cell surface areas of polarized radial glia having opposite effects on axonal outgrowth. Eur. J. Neurosci. 10, 1000–1010.
- Stolzenburg, J.U., Haas, J., Härtig, W., Paulke, B.R., Wolburg, H., Reichelt, W., Chao, T.I., Wolff, J.R., Reichenbach, A., 1992. Phagocytosis of latex beads by rabbit retinal Muller (glial) cells in vitro. J. Hirnforsch. 33, 557–564.
- Stone, J., Maslim, J., Valter-Kocsi, K., Mervin, K., Bowers, F., Chu, Y., Barnett, N., Provis, J., Lewis, G., Fisher, S.K., Bisti, S., Gargini, C., Cervetto, L., Merin, S., Peer, J., 1999. Mechanisms of photoreceptor

death and survival in mammalian retina. Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 18, 689-735.

- Sullivan, R., Penfold, P., Pow, D.V., 2003. Neuronal migration and glial remodeling in degenerating retinas of aged rats and in nonneovascular AMD. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 44, 856–865.
- Takeda, M., Takamiya, A., Yoshida, A., Kiyama, H., 2002. Extracellular signal-regulated kinase activation predominantly in Muller cells of retina with endotoxin-induced uveitis. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 43, 907–911.
- Takumi, T., Ishii, T., Horio, Y., Morishige, K., Takahashi, N., Yamada, M., Yamashita, T., Kiyami, H., Sohmiya, K., Nakanishi, S., Kurachi, Y., 1995. A novel ATP-dependent inward rectifier potassium channel expressed predominantly in glial cells. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 16339–16346.
- Taylor, S., Srinivasan, B., Wordinger, R.J., Roque, R.S., 2003. Glutamate stimulates neurotrophin expression in cultured Müller cells. Mol. Brain Res. 111, 189–197.
- Tenckhoff, S., Hollborn, M., Kohen, L., Wolf, S., Wiedemann, P., Bringmann, A., 2005. Diversity of aquaporin mRNA expressed by rat and human retinas. Neuroreport 16, 53–56.
- Tezel, G., Chauhan, B.C., LeBlanc, R.P., Wax, M.B., 2003. Immunohistochemical assessment of the glial mitogen-activated protein kinase activation in glaucoma. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 44, 3025–3033.
- Tout, S., Chan-Ling, T., Hollander, H., Stone, J., 1993. The role of Müller cells in the formation of the blood-retinal barrier. Neuroscience 55, 291–301.
- Tretiach, M., Madigan, M.C., Wen, L., Gillies, M.C., 2005. Effect of Muller cell co-culture on in vitro permeability of bovine retinal vascular endothelium in normoxic and hypoxic conditions. Neurosci. Lett. 378, 160–165.
- Trotti, D., Rossi, D., Gjesdal, O., Levy, L.M., Racagni, G., Danbolt, N.C., Volterra, A., 1996. Peroxynitrite inhibits glutamate transporter subtypes. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 5976–5979.
- Tsacopoulos, M., Magistretti, P.J., 1996. Metabolic coupling between glia and neurons. J. Neurosci. 16, 877–885.
- Tsacopoulos, M., Poitry-Yamate, C.L., MacLeish, P.R., Poitry, S., 1998. Trafficking of molecules and metabolic signals in the retina. Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 17, 429–442.
- Turner, D.L., Cepko, C.L., 1987. A common progenitor for neurons and glia persists in rat retina late in development. Nature 328, 131–136.
- Uckermann, O., Vargova, L., Ulbricht, E., Klaus, C., Weick, M., Rillich, K., Wiedemann, P., Reichenbach, A., Syková, E., Bringmann, A., 2004. Glutamate-evoked alterations of glial and neuronal cell morphology in the guinea-pig retina. J. Neurosci. 24, 10149–10158.
- Uckermann, O., Kutzera, F., Wolf, A., Pannicke, T., Reichenbach, A., Wiedemann, P., Wolf, S., Bringmann, A., 2005. The glucocorticoid triamcinolone acetonide inhibits osmotic swelling of retinal glial cells via stimulation of endogenous adenosine signaling. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 315, 1036–1045.
- Uckermann, O., Wolf, A., Kutzera, F., Kalisch, F., Beck-Sickinger, A., Wiedemann, P., Reichenbach, A., Bringmann, A., 2006. Glutamate release by neurons evokes a purinergic inhibitory mechanism of osmotic glial cell swelling in the rat retina: activation by neuropeptide Y. J. Neurosci. Res. 83, 538–550.
- Uhlmann, S., Bringmann, A., Uckermann, O., Pannicke, T., Weick, M., Ulbricht, E., Goczalik, I., Reichenbach, A., Wiedemann, P., Francke, M., 2003. Early glial cell reactivity in experimental retinal detachment: effect of suramin. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 44, 4114–4122.
- Umapathy, N.S., Li, W., Mysona, B.A., Smith, S.B., Ganapathy, V., 2005. Expression and function of glutamine transporters SN1 (SNAT3) and SN2 (SNAT5) in retinal Müller cells. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 46, 3980–3987.

- Unemori, E.N., Ferrara, N., Bauer, E.A., Amento, E.P., 1992. Vascular endothelial growth factor induces interstitial collagenase expression in human endothelial cells. J. Cell Physiol. 153, 557–562.
- van Adel, B.A., Arnold, J.M., Phipps, J., Doering, L.C., Ball, A.K., 2005. Ciliary neurotrophic factor protects retinal ganglion cells from axotomy-induced apoptosis via modulation of retinal glia in vivo. J. Neurobiol. 63, 215–234.
- van Dam, P.S., 2002. Oxidative stress and diabetic neuropathy: pathophysiological mechanisms and treatment perspectives. Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev. 18, 176–184.
- Wahlin, K.J., Campochiaro, P.A., Zack, D.J., Adler, R., 2000. Neurotrophic factors cause activation of intracellular signaling pathways in Müller cells and other cells of the inner retina, but not photoreceptors. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 41, 927–936.
- Wahlin, K.J., Adler, R., Zack, D.J., Campochiaro, P.A., 2001. Neurotrophic signaling in normal and degenerating rodent retinas. Exp. Eye Res. 73, 693–701.
- Ward, M.M., Jobling, A.I., Kalloniatis, M., Fletcher, E.L., 2005. Glutamate uptake in retinal glial cells during diabetes. Diabetologia 48, 351–360.
- Wen, R., Song, Y., Cheng, T., Matthes, M.T., Yasumura, D., LaVail, M.M., Steinberg, R.H., 1995. Injury-induced upregulation of bFGF and CNTF mRNAs in the rat retina. J. Neurosci. 15, 7377–7385.
- Westergaard, N., Sonnewald, U., Schousboe, A., 1995. Metabolic trafficking between neurons and astrocytes: the glutamate/glutamine cycle revisited. Dev. Neurosci. 17, 203–211.
- Willbold, E., Berger, J., Reinicke, M., Wolburg, H., 1997. On the role of Müller glia cells in histogenesis: only retinal spheroids, but not tectal, telencephalic and cerebellar spheroids develop histotypical patterns. J. Hirnforsch. 38, 383–396.
- Winkler, B.S., Arnold, M.J., Brassell, M.A., Puro, D.G., 2000. Energy metabolism in human retinal Muller cells. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 41, 3183–3190.
- Winter, M., Eberhardt, W., Scholz, C., Reichenbach, A., 2000. Failure of potassium siphoning by Müller cells: a new hypothesis of perfluorocarbon liquid-induced retinopathy. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 41, 256–261.
- Witkovsky, P., Stone, S., Ripps, H., 1985. Pharmacological modification of the light-induced responses of Müller (glial) cells in the amphibian retina. Brain Res. 328, 111–120.
- Wolburg, H., Liebner, S., Reichenbach, A., Gerhardt, H., 1999. The pecten oculi of the chicken: a model system for vascular differentiation and barrier maturation. Int. Rev. Cytol. 187, 111–159.
- Xi, X., Gao, L., Hatala, D.A., Smith, D.G., Codispoti, M.C., Gong, B., Kern, T.S., Zhang, J.Z., 2005. Chronically elevated glucose-induced apoptosis is mediated by inactivation of Akt in cultured Muller cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 326, 548–553.
- Yafai, Y., Iandiev, I., Wiedemann, P., Reichenbach, A., Eichler, W., 2004. Retinal endothelial angiogenic activity: effects of hypoxia and glial (Müller) cells. Microcirculation 11, 577–586.
- Yanoff, M., Kertesz Rahn, E., Zimmerman, L.E., 1968. Histopathology of juvenile retinoschisis. Arch. Ophthalmol. 79, 49–53.
- Yanoff, M., Fine, B.S., Brucker, A.J., Eagle, R.C., 1984. Pathology of human cystoid macular edema. Surv. Ophthalmol. 28, S505–S511.
- Yasuhara, T., Shingo, T., Date, I., 2004. The potential role of vascular endothelial growth factor in the central nervous system. Rev. Neurosci. 15, 293–307.
- Yu, D.Y., Cringle, S.J., 2001. Oxygen distribution and consumption within the retina in vascularised and avascular retinas and in animal models of retinal disease. Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 20, 175–208.